Public Document Pack

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 07895 213740
E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk
Date: 29 March 2022
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 6 APRIL 2022 AT 6.00 PM
FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK,
OX14 4SB
You can watch this meeting via this weblink:
https://www.youtube.com/c/SouthandValeCommitteeMeetings
If you are attending in person you will need to bring a portable device, such as a
laptop or tablet to listen to and watch the meeting. You will also need to bring a
headset/headphones.

Members of the Committee:
David Bretherton (Chair)
Peter Dragonetti (ViceChair)
Ken Arlett
Tim Bearder
Victoria Haval

Elizabeth Gillespie
Lorraine Hillier
Axel Macdonald
Jo Robb

Ian Snowdon
Alan Thompson

Alexandrine Kantor
Mocky Khan
Jane Murphy
Caroline Newton

Sue Roberts
David Turner
Kellie Hinton

Substitutes
vacancy
Celia Wilson
Sam Casey-Rerhaye
Stefan Gawrysiak

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request. These include
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on
this agenda. Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.
Patrick Arran
Head of Legal and Democratic
1

1

Chair's announcements

To receive any announcements from the chair and general housekeeping matters.
2

Apologies for absence

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.
3

Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 12)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meeting
held on Tuesday 22 February 2022.
4

Declarations of interest

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on
the agenda for this meeting.
5

Urgent business

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or
withdrawn.
6

Proposals for site visits

7

Public participation

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.

Development control applications
Planning applications - background papers and additional
information
All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application
number.
Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications
2

Site Address

Proposal

8

P21/S5378/FUL
- Ridgeway
House, 1A
Hagbourne
Road, Didcot

Change of use of the existing office
to a large (Sui Generis) House in
Multiple Occupation (HMO) with the
addition of a rear dormer.

P21/S5378/FUL

13 - 28

9

P21/S3035/FUL
- 21 St. Martins
Street,
Wallingford

Extensions to the side and front
elevation along with alterations.
Change of use to dry cleaners on
ground floor. New garage to rear of
side extension and first floor access.
Proposed creation of 2-bedroom
apartment on 1st floor. New
traditional timber style shop front.
New timber and slate tile lean-to
canopy to the rear elevation to
replace uPVC canopy (as amended
by drawings received 26 October
2021 reducing footprint and
amended energy information
received 11 November 2021).

P21/S3035/FUL

29 - 48

10

P21/S5332/FUL
- The Cherry
Tree Inn, Stoke
Row Road,
Stoke Row

Outdoor marquee and pizza oven.

P21/S5332/FUL

49 - 64

11

P21/S4038/HH 26 Ladder Hill,
Wheatley

Rear and side extension (as clarified
by corrected proposed rear elevation
received 19 October 2021 and by
drawings received 22 November
2021, demonstrating an obscured
glazed side facing window).

P21/S4038/HH

65 - 96

12

P21/S3199/FUL
- St. Andrew's
Field, Holton
Road, Holton

To widen an entrance. Removal of a
section of wall. Installation of new
farm gates (as amplified by
corrected block plans drawing no s
BLO-001A and BLO-002A received
on 28/02/22).

P21/S3199/FUL

97 108

Application No

Page

3

4

Agenda Item 3

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
HELD ON TUESDAY 22 FEBRUARY 2022 AT 6.00 PM
FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK,
OX14 4SB
Present in the meeting room:
Councillors: David Bretherton (Chair), Peter Dragonetti (Vice Chair), Ken Arlett, Tim
Bearder, Victoria Haval, Elizabeth Gillespie, Lorraine Hillier, Axel Macdonald, Jo Robb, Ian
Snowdon and Alan Thompson
Officers: Paul Bateman and Cathie Scotting
Guests: Councillor David Bartholomew

Remote attendance:
Councillors: George Levy, Sue Roberts and Ian White
Officers: Nathan Bamsey, Michael Flowers, Paul Lucas, Susie Royse, Nicola Smith and
Will Sparling

70

Chair's announcements

The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed and
advised on emergency evacuation arrangements.

71

Minutes of the previous meeting

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 12 January 2022 as a
correct record and agree that the chair sign these as such.

72

Declarations of interest

There were no declarations of interest.

73

Urgent business

There was no urgent business.

74

Proposals for site visits

A motion, moved and seconded, to defer planning permission in respect of application
P21/S1389/O, Kingsley House, Crowsley Road, Lower Shiplake, to enable a site visit to
take place, was declared carried on being put to the vote. The committee wished to have
the opportunity to visualise the proposals in the proposed setting and a site visit was

Page 5
1

necessary, in order to have a clearer understanding of the development in the context of
the site and its surroundings.
RESOLVED: to hold a site visit for application P21/S1389/O and defer the consideration of
the application until the visit had been completed.

75

Public participation

The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak had been sent to the
committee before the meeting. In addition, statements which had been received had been
sent to the committee prior to the meeting.

76

Kingsley House, Crowsley Road, Lower Shiplake, RG9 3LU

Consideration of this application was deferred to facilitate a site visit.

77

76 High Street, Wallingford, OX10 0BX

The committee considered application P21/S4342/FUL for the removal of condition 5
(building to be used only for the purposes specified in the application) on planning
application P75/W0446 (internal alterations providing kitchen, dining areas & new
toilet/bathroom areas. Change of use to restaurant.), at 76 High Street, Wallingford.
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.
The planning officer reported that the premises were in a conservation area and were
currently vacant. Officers did not consider that refusal to the proposal would be justified as
there would be no harm to the viability of the town centre in granting the recommendation.
The application sought to remove condition 5 of permission P75/W0446; the condition had
allowed for the change of use of the former public house to a restaurant.
Mr. Michael Simpson, the agent, spoke in support of the application.
Councillor Sue Roberts, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.
Councillor George Levy, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.
The senior planning officer clarified the situation by stating that the removal of the
condition did not provide for permitted development as a dwelling, only use in Class E (that
was, retail, restaurants, professional services, offices, gyms, surgeries, nurseries and
other high street uses). The intention of the removal of the condition was to provide
flexibility of use to the owner. Any conversion to a dwelling would require a separate
application for planning permission.
The committee concluded that there was no sound planning reason upon which to refuse
permission and agreed to the removal of condition 5, as stated in the report.
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on
being put to the vote.
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S4342/FUL subject to the
following conditions:
Page 6
2

1. Approved plans.

78

Land East of Reading Road, Lower Shiplake

The committee considered application P21/S4102/RM for approval of Reserved Matters
(scale, appearance, layout and landscaping) following consent granted under reference
P18/S3210/O (approved under appeal reference APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425) - extra care
development of up to 65 units comprising of apartments and cottages (Use Class C2);
associated communal facilities; provision of vehicular and cycle parking together with all
necessary internal roads and footpaths; provision of open space and associated
landscape works; and ancillary works and structures (As amended by revised landscaping
plans received on 3 February 2022) on Land East of Reading Road, Lower Shiplake.
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.
The planning officer reported that this was a reserved matters application following
consent granted under application P18/S3210/O for up to 65 dwellings, which had been
granted on appeal. It was also reported that members of the committee had attended a
site visit at the location on Monday 21 February 2022.
The planning officer reported that some changes to the size of some elements of the
application had been made. Appendix D of the report depicted how the footprint of the
buildings had been reduced by a modification of the size of the clubhouse (block A) and a
re-orientation of block E. The remainder of the differences were limited to a less
engineered road layout and a re-organisation of the car parking layout. These differences
had been made in order to achieve a better, less engineered and more welcoming scheme
than the approved parameter plan had suggested.
The Site Parameters Plan identified two buffer zones around the edge of the development,
a 10 - metre landscaping buffer zone comprising existing and proposed structural planting,
and a further 5 - metre buffer zone, which excluded built form, and was designed to offset
the buildings from the structural planting. The layout shown on the approved Site
Parameter Plan indicated several locations where parking areas encroached into the inner
5 - metre buffer zone, together with the bin storage area encroaching into the outer 10 metre buffer zone as well. These locations were highlighted on the Comparison Plan at
Appendix D of the report. The planning officer also reported that the plans submitted with
the application indicated that the proposed building heights and block sizes complied with
the maximums set out on the approved parameters plan. All landscaping proposals had
been maintained and additional proposed planting in the north east and by the bin store
would incorporate trees of a heavier standard. The proposals for landscaping were
acceptable for the purposes of screening, as set out in the inspector’s report.
The planning officer reported on some design aspects of the proposal; council planning
officers had concluded that this was a well - designed scheme. In Block B there had been
an intention to move away from an institutional appearance to the buildings, incorporating
overlapping eaves and the club house was designed to resemble a barn. The applicants
had consulted the Chilterns design guide for inspiration. Also, it was noted that there had
been some concern in respect of the height of some of the proposed units. The planning
officer reported that a sub - division of Block C incorporated a ‘step down’ in following the
contours of the land, which allowed for extra flats. The finally resulting development would
be no higher than the maximum height featured in the outline planning permission
Page 7
3

documentation. The planning officer reported on concerns in respect of potential lighting
glare to properties on Baskerville Lane, using computer generated imagery in a slide
presentation. The cottages and club house would be served by low level bollard lighting,
which would be controlled by a planning condition in the event of planning permission
being granted. Also regarding light emissions, it was reported that the overhanging gable
design would minimise light spill. In respect of the club house, a proposed planning
condition setting the hours of use, as communal facilities would be provided, was
recommended to ensure that lighting was not used late at night. The committee noted from
the report that the applicants had produced a lighting statement technical note to assess
the potential impacts of the proposals.
In response to a question from the committee regarding the maximum number of units in
the development, the planning officer responded that the parameter plan provided an
indicative figure of a maximum of 65 units, but that fewer units could be acceptable.
Councillor Chris Penrose, a representative of Shiplake Parish Council, spoke objecting to
the application.
Ms. Charlotte Taylor-Drake, the agent, spoke in support of the application.
Mr. Nick Baker, the architect, spoke in support of the application.
Mr. Scott Curran, the applicant, spoke in support of the application.
In response to a question from the committee regarding the basis of the calculation for the
number of car parking spaces, the agent replied that the provision had been stipulated by
the Oxfordshire County Council, the highways authority.
In response to a question from the committee regarding access to the facility by people
with limited mobility, the architect responded that there would be lifts in every apartment
building and that the cottages could accept stairlifts.
Councillor David Bartholomew, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.
The planning officer reported that it had been established at outline stage that the site
would result in a net loss of biodiversity. At that time the Council considered this
acceptable, subject to a suitable condition requiring the loss to be offset. However, the
requested offsetting condition was not applied by the Inspector. This reserved matters
application also showed a net loss of biodiversity. Officers therefore considered it
necessary to impose a condition requiring the loss of biodiversity to be offset.
The planning officer reported that Shiplake Parish Council had prepared a submission
draft neighbourhood plan, the publicity period on the draft plan concluded on Tuesday 7
December 2021 and the draft plan had been submitted for independent examination. At
this stage, the policies in the plan could only be given limited weight, as it has not been
examined.
The committee concluded that concerns regarding some aspects of the proposal had been
adequately addressed in the recommended conditions and that planning permission
should be granted.
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on
being put to the vote.
Page 8
4

RESOLVED: to grant reserved matters approval for application P21/S4102/RM subject to
the following conditions:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Development in accordance with approved plans
Biodiversity offsetting
Landscape implementation
Restricted hours of operation (clubhouse) for lighting and use of
Cycle Parking
Energy Statement Verification

79

Land at Crowell Road, Chinnor

internal blinds

The committee considered application P21/S0804/O in respect of an outline application
(with all matters reserved except Layout and Access), for the erection of up to 54 age
restricted dwellings (for people aged 55 and over), including 40% affordable housing and
communal facilities, on land to the north of Crowell Road, Chinnor. New vehicular access
to be created off Crowell Road, along with the retention of the existing pedestrian access
to Oakley Road to the North (additional information received 31 March 2021 and 6 June
2021 and 29 October 2021 on Land at Crowell Road, Chinnor.
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.
The planning officer reported that the application had been referred to the committee at the
development manager’s discretion for a resolution on how the application would have
been determined, had the applicant not submitted an appeal for non-determination. At the
current time, the application would have been recommended for refusal on matters
covered in the report. Were the proposal refused, the committee would be requested to
confirm its putative reasons, which would then be used to inform the main issues to be
considered through the appeal process.
The planning officer referred to paragraphs 6.16 and 6.17, which summarised several
issues which council officers considered should be addressed. These included the need
for additional photomontages to allow a full assessment of the impact on the landscape
and conservation area; details of actual building heights in metres; the provision of
continuous and linked footpaths; the need for boundary planting on the north western
boundary; the inappropriateness of a slope to the sides of the attenuation basins, as it
would not create an attractive feature and would not allow access to these areas for
elderly residents; appropriate lighting details would be required to avoid harmful impacts
on heritage and landscape; and further information was required to demonstrate that
refuse vehicles could adequately access the proposed bin stores within acceptable
distances.
The committee noted the report stating the importance of the need for a ‘Grampian’
condition, to secure foul water upgrades in agreement with Thames Water, and for a
sustainable drainage scheme, to ensure that the proposal was in accordance with Policy
EP4 (Flood Risk). Also of significance was that the clinical commissioning group had
considered the application and had no objection to the proposal, stating that local
healthcare should have sufficient capacity to deal with any additional needs.
The planning officer reported that South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 Policies H1 and H13,
and Policy CH H5 of the Review Chinnor Neighbourhood Plan were supportive of the
Page 9
5

proposal in terms of it providing specialist accommodation for older people, particularly
given that the site was located on the edge of Chinnor, a larger village. The council
monitored the need for specialist elderly accommodation, which was growing. Refusal of
this development was not proposed on the grounds of a departure from policy.
The representative of Chinnor Parish Councillor was unable to attend the committee
meeting owing to a family medical emergency. Local ward Councillor Ian White read the
parish council’s statement of objection to the committee. The democratic services officer
had sent the parish council’s statement and supporting documentation to the committee
prior to the meeting.
Mr. Giles Brockbank, the agent, spoke in support of the application.
Councillor Ian White, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.
The committee supported the reasons for refusal and requested that the final drafting of
the notice be subject to consultation between the head of planning and the chair of the
committee.
A motion moved and seconded, to refuse permission was declared carried on being put to
the vote.
RESOLVED: that, had the council been able to determine application P21/S0804/O, it
would have refused planning permission for the following reasons:
1. The proposal fails to demonstrate a design and layout of high quality that
incorporates tree planting, landscaping and drainage features and that the
development can provide adequate areas of usable open space for residents. The
proposed development will be detrimental to the landscape of the area and would result
in unsatisfactory amenity space for residents. As such, the proposal is contrary to Policy
ENV1 (Landscape and Countryside), Policy DES1 (High Quality Development
Proposals), Policy DES2 (Enhancing Local Character), Policy DES4 (Masterplans),
Policy DES5 (Outdoor Amenity Space), Policy EP3 (Waste Collection and Recycling)
and Policy CF5 (Open Space, Sport and Recreation in New Residential Development
and the National Planning Policy Framework.
2. The proposal fails to provide safe and secure access arrangements for all
vehicles and pedestrians. As such, the proposed development would be
detrimental to highway safety and contrary to Policy TRANS5 (Consideration of
Development Proposals), Policy EP3 (Waste Collection and Recycling) and the National
Planning Policy Framework.
3. The development fails to secure the provision of affordable housing to meet the
identified needs of the district. The proposal has not included sufficient evidence to
demonstrate it would secure the delivery of 40% affordable housing of a suitable mix,
type or tenure as required by the Development Plan. As, such the proposed
development is contrary to Policy H9 (Affordable Housing), Policy DES1 (High Quality
Design), Policy CH H2 (Affordable Housing), Policy CH H4 (Allocation of Affordable
Housing for Local People) and the National Planning Policy Framework.
4. In the absence of a completed Section 106 Legal Agreement, the proposal fails to
secure the necessary affordable housing to meet the needs of the district and local
area. As such, the proposal is contrary to Policy H9 (Affordable Housing), Policy CH H2
Page 10
6

(Affordable Housing), Policy CH H4 (Allocation of Affordable Housing for Local People)
and the National Planning Policy Framework.
5. In the absence of a completed Section 106 Legal Agreement, the proposal fails to
secure the infrastructure necessary to meet the needs of the development. As such, the
proposed development is contrary to the Development Plan, including Policy TRANS5
(Consideration of Development Proposals) and Policy INF1 (Infrastructure Provision),
Policy INF4 (Water Resources), Policy TRANS2 (Promoting Sustainable Transport and
Accessibility), Policy EP3 (Waste Collection and Recycling) and the National Planning
Policy Framework.

The meeting closed at 8.15 pm

Chair

Date

Page 11
7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)

APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

OFFICER

P21/S5378/FUL
FULL APPLICATION
23.12.2021
DIDCOT
Celia Wilson
Axel Macdonald
Mocky Khan
Co-Living Capital
Ridgeway House, 1A Hagbourne Road, Didcot,
OX11 8DP
Change of use of the existing office to a large (Sui
Generis) House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) with
the addition of a rear dormer.
Paul Bowers

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
This application was deferred from the planning committee meeting on 2 March 2022
to allow members to visit the site. The site visit took place on 4 April 2022.

1.2

This report sets out the officer’s recommendation that planning permission should be
granted having regard to the material planning considerations and the development
plan.

1.3

This application is referred to planning committee because Didcot Town Council
object to the development and the officer recommendation is for approval.

1.4

The application site is located within the town of Didcot. 1A Hagbourne Road is a
detached, two storey building. It was originally a dwelling but has been in lawful office
use (formerly Class B1 (a) - now Class E) for a number of years. The site includes a
car parking area and vehicular access from Hagbourne Road and a small yard area to
the rear.
The site is not located in a designated area, but the Didcot Northbourne Conservation
Area is located to the west on the opposite side of Hagbourne Road.
A plan identifying the location of the site can be found at Appendix 1.

1.4

Prior approval was granted under permitted development rights in 2021 under
application reference P21/S1243/N1A to change the use of the existing building from
an office back to a single dwelling. The approval has not been implemented and
therefore its current lawful use remains as an office.
However, the prior approval to create a single dwelling on this site remains extant and
is a material consideration in the determination of this application.

1.5

This application seeks full planning permission to change the use of the building to a
7-bedroom house in multiple occupation (HMO). In addition, a proposed dormer
window is to be located on the east facing rear roof slope to allow a bedroom to be
provided on the loft space.

Page 13

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

1.6

Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached as Appendix
2 to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the council’s
website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Didcot Town Council – Objects to the development for the following reasons;
-

Height of the rear dormer window making it overbearing and is against advice in
the Design Guide.
Amenity area is inadequate for the number of bedrooms.
The size and appearance of the dormer window is contrary to the Design Guide.

Third Party Representations – 3 x letters of objection
-

Concern about the possibility of the number occupants and the corresponding
number of cars and impact on parking in the local area.

Highways Liaison Officer – No objection subject to conditions. A total of three parking
spaces has been provided on the site frontage along with cycle parking which has been
recommended by condition. A site visit was undertaken at 8.10pm to review the
carriageway conditions, which indicated available space on-street. The site benefits
from a high level of accessibility with many typical town centre amenities, shops,
services, employment opportunities and public transport links within walking distance.
Furthermore, there are on-street controls within the vicinity to prevent indiscriminate
and/or obstructive parking, in addition within the vicinity of the site is a number of car
parks. The proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on the highway
network
Private Sector Housing Team – Comments setting out the requirements for a license
from the council for HMO once the building is occupied by more than 5 people.
3.0
3.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P21/S2364/DIS - Approved (28/06/2021)
Discharge of condition 1 (parking) on application P21/S1243/N1A .
(Change of use of office back to a dwelling).
P21/S1243/N1A - Approved (12/05/2021)
Change of use of office back to a dwelling

4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
The proposed development is not Schedule 1 or 2 development as defined by the
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017,
so an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required.

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
Development Plan Policies
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
DES1 - Delivering High Quality Development
DES2 - Enhancing Local Character
DES3 - Design and Access Statements
DES5 - Outdoor Amenity Space
DES6 - Residential Amenity
DES7 - Efficient Use of Resources

Page 14

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

DES8 - Promoting Sustainable Design
EP3 – Waste collection and recycling
EMP3 - Retention of employment land
ENV3 - Biodiversity
ENV8 - Conservation Areas
H1 - Delivering New Homes
H17 - Sub-division and Conversion to Multiple Occupation
STRAT1 - The Overall Strategy
TRANS5 - Consideration of Development Proposals
5.2

Neighbourhood Plan
Didcot does not have a made neighbourhood plan.

5.3

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance
(PPG)

5.4

5.5

Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.
Development which is not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan should
be refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.2

The main issues to consider in relation to this development are as follows;
-

6.3

Control and Definition of HMOs
The principle of development.
Impact heritage assets.
Residential amenity.
Amenity space.
Impact on highway safety.
Carbon reduction.
Waste and recycling.
Biodiversity.
CIL.

Control and Definition of HMOs
The council have two forms of control for houses in multiple occupation (HMO);
1. There is the use of the building covered by planning legislation; and
2. Licensing from our private sector housing team

Page 15

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

1. Planning Use. An HMO is defined as a property rented out by at least 3 people who
are not from 1 “household” (for example a family) but share facilities like a bathroom
and a kitchen. HMOs are essentially house shares.
Planning permission is not required for a change of use from a dwelling (C3) to a small
HMO (up to 6 occupants) (C4) as this level of use is deemed to be similar to that of any
family. Such a change of use is permitted development.
Planning permission is required to the change of use of a dwelling or small HMO to a
large HMO because large HMOs are “sui generis” i.e they are unique uses that do not
fall within any other use class category.
2.Licensing from our private sector housing team. A licence from the council (under
the terms of the Housing Act 2004) is required for HMOs of more than 3 people. There
are small HMOs and large HMOs; A property is deemed to be a large HMO if all of the
following apply:




6.4

it is rented to 5 or more people who form more than 1 household
some or all tenants share toilet, bathroom or kitchen facilities
at least 1 tenant pays rent (or their employer pays it for them).

The principle of development.
The principle of this development can be broken down into two main considerations.
-

Whether the loss of the employment use is acceptable and;
Whether residential use on this site is acceptable

I will take each issue in turn and assess the planning merit of each.
6.5

Whether the loss of the employment use is acceptable
Policy EMP3 of SOLP states that existing employment land will be retained in order to
promote and grow a balanced, sustainable economy and local services. Proposals for
the redevelopment or change of use of employment land to nonemployment uses will
only be permitted if:
i) the applicants can demonstrate that any employment use is no longer viable; or
ii) it is evidenced that there is no market interest in the site following one year of active
and effective marketing; or
iii) the development would bring about significant improvements to the living conditions
of nearby residents, or to the environment. In assessing this, the Council will consider
whether there is a realistic prospect of mitigating the detrimental effects of continuing
employment use.
In addition to the criteria above the policy goes on to say that, where there is no
reasonable prospect of land or premises being used for continued employment use, a
mixed-use enabling development which incorporates employment space should first be
considered.

6.6

The applicant has not demonstrated that the existing use is no longer viable and that
there is no market interest in the site following a year of marketing. The proposal
therefore conflicts with Policy EMP3.
Page 16

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

However, the grant of prior approval to allow the conversion of the office to become a
single dwelling is a material planning consideration that needs to be weighed in the
balance against the provisions of this policy.
The fact that the office use can cease, and a dwelling created without any further
approval from the District Council is of considerable weight and it justifies setting aside
the requirements of this policy.
In my view, the council cannot resist the loss of the employment use given such a
strong fallback position.
6.7

Whether residential use on this site is acceptable
The development proposes residential development and therefore the Housing policies
within the development plan are relevant.
Policy STRAT1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan sets out the overall strategy for
development in the district. The policy includes specific reference to focussing major
new development in Science Vale and Didcot Garden Town. In addition to protecting
and enhancing the countryside and particularly those areas within the two AONBs and
Oxford Green Belt by ensuring that outside of the towns and villages any change
relates to very specific needs such as those of the agricultural industry or enhancement
of the environment.

6.8

Policy H1 relates to delivering new homes and states that the residential development
of previously developed land will be permitted within and adjacent to the existing builtup areas of towns, larger villages and smaller villages.

6.9

The policy states that residential development on sites not allocated in the development
plan will be permitted, amongst other provisions, provided that an important open space
of public, environmental, historical or ecological value is not lost, nor an important
public view harmed (H1,3 iii)

6.10 Although not technically relevant to the determination of this application Policy H17 of
SOLP allows for the conversion and subdivision of existing dwellings into an HMO
provided that the development would not harm the amenity of the occupants of nearby
properties, and it is appropriate in terms of the size of the property and the proposed
internal layout, access, private amenity space and car parking provision.
Given the prior approval for 1A Hagbourne Road to convert to a single dwelling without
any further consent, it is wholly appropriate that the application is also assessed against
this policy in my view.
6.11 In addition, it is also worth noting and weighing in the balance that under the Town and
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, planning permission is not usually
required for a change of use from a family dwelling (Use Class C3) to an HMO of up to
6 unrelated persons (Use Class C4).
6.12 In terms of Policy H1 this is a site located within one of the four main towns in the
district. The site is not an important open space of public, environmental, historical or
ecological value and does not result in the loss of an important public view. In your
officer’s opinion the principle of residential development is acceptable in the context of
this policy.

Page 17

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

In addition, setting aside the policy, the principle has already been accepted through
the prior approval to create a dwelling within this existing building.
6.13 In respect of Policy H17 of SOLP it states that the sub-division of dwellings and
conversions to multiple occupation will be permitted provided that the development:
i) would not harm the amenity of the occupants of nearby properties; and
ii) is appropriate in terms of the size of the property and the
proposed internal layout, access, private amenity space and car parking provision.
6.14 The two provisions of Policy H17 are discussed in depth in the following sections of this
report. However, it is clear that the thrust of the policy is permissive in its stance to
allow dwellings to be subdivided and converted to an intensified use as a house in
multiple occupation.
6.15 In summary, your officers are satisfied there was clear justification for setting aside the
requirements of the employment policy and the presumption in favour of residential use
for the conversion of this building that the principle of the development is acceptable.
6.16 Impact heritage assets.
The heritage asset to consider in the case of this development is the Northbourne
Conservation Area. The impact to consider is how the proposed development affects
the setting of the conservation area given that the site is outside of the conservation
area on the opposite side of the road.
Section 72 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
provides:
In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area, of
any [functions under or by virtue of] any of the provisions mentioned in subsection (2),
special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character or appearance of that area.
Section 72 (1) must also be considered alongside relevant policies contained in the
NPPF.
Paragraph 203 of the NPPF states that in determining applications LPA’s should take
account of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of the heritage
assets and putting them to viable use consistent with conservation, the positive
contribution that conservation deals with the impact of a proposed development on the
“significance” of heritage assets can make to sustainable communities including their
economic vitality and the desirability of new development making a positive contribution
to local character and distinctiveness.
Paragraph 205 of the NPPF requires that when considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the
weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.
This is followed through into the development plan by Policy ENV8 of SOLP which
relates to conservation areas.

Page 18

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

6.17 More generally Policy DES1 seeks to ensure that all new development is of a highquality design subject to a series of criteria and Policy DES2 states that all new
development must be designed to reflect the positive features that make up the
character of the local area and should both physically and visually enhance and
complement the surroundings.
6.18 The change of use of the building to become a dwelling will have no material effect on
the setting of the adjacent conservation area. The building itself is residential in
appearance and was once a dwelling prior to becoming an office. Therefore, the
historic use of the building, it's location and existing appearance will not cause harm to
the setting and appreciation of the conservation area.
6.19 The main physical change to the building arises through the addition of a flat roof
dormer window on the rear facing western elevation of the building. Large flat roof
dormer windows that are there to provide headroom are generally discouraged in the
South Oxfordshire Design Guide.
6.20 In considering this addition to the building and its impact on the conservation area
regard must be had to the fact that it is to be located on the roof slope away from the
conservation area. In addition, it is also not going to be prominent in wider public views.
6.21 When also assessing its impact, I have to have regard to the fact that given the building
can be used as a dwelling without any need for planning permission from the council
the building will then gain permitted development rights to carry out certain extensions
and alterations. This would include the erection of a dormer window on the rear roof
slope. Therefore, should the building be occupied as a dwelling the same dormer
window could be erected at any point without needing planning permission.
6.22 Taking all of these points into consideration especially having regard to the fact that the
dormer window is on a roof slope away from the conservation area your officers are
satisfied the conservation area and its setting will not be harmed as a consequence of
the erection the dormer window as shown on the proposed plans. The development
therefore accords with policy ENV8 of SOLP.
6.23 Residential amenity
Policy DES6 of SOLP relates to residential amenity and requires that development
proposals should demonstrate that they will not result in significant adverse impacts on
the amenity of neighbouring uses, when considering both individual and cumulative
impacts in relation to loss of privacy, day light and sunlight, dominance or visual
intrusion, noise or vibration, smell dust, heat, odour or other emissions, pollution and
external lighting.
6.24 The change of use of the building to become a dwelling in this location within an
established residential area located centrally within the town will not in of itself cause an
unneighbourly impact.
6.25 The physical change to the building with the addition of the dormer window will be the
only visually appreciable element of the development that will be seen by neighbouring
properties.
As I have discussed earlier this dormer window could be added should the applicant
change the use of the building to a dwelling because the dormer window could be
constructed under permitted development rights. Notwithstanding this fact your officers
are of the view that given that there are existing first floor windows in the rear of the

Page 19

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

building the dormer window will not give rise to a materially greater level of overlooking
adjoining properties than the current situation.
The proposal will therefore accord with policy DES6 of SOLP.
6.26 Amenity space.
Policy DES5 of SOLP relates to outdoor amenity space and requires that a private
outdoor garden or amenity areas should be provided for all new dwellings. The amount
of land should be provided for amenity space will be determined by the size of the
dwelling.
The South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out the minimum areas based on the number
of bedrooms and for 2 bedroom properties 50 square metres is required and for 3+
bedrooms 100 square metres should be provided.
An inability to provide the minimum amenity space and or parking provision can be an
indicator that what is being proposed constitutes an over development of the site.
6.27 In respect of flatted development, a communal area can be provided as long as the
total space is commensurate with the number of units and the number of bedrooms.
However, each site and proposal must be assessed on its own merits. The amount of
communal amenity space that would be available for the occupants of this property is
clearly below the council's minimum standards of 100 square metres as it proposes 32
square metres in total.
Your officers are satisfied however that the central location of this property in relation to
the amenities provided for within the Didcot town centre in addition to the fact this
proposal makes the best use of available land in a sustainable location, is sufficient
justification to set aside the strict minimum standards that would be applied through the
application with the South Oxfordshire Design Guide and Policy DES5.
6.28 Impact on highway safety.
With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows:
Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe.
The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely to
result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact.
Policy TRANS5 of SOLP seeks to ensure that development does not harm highway
safety and provides for sufficient parking and turning areas.
6.29 A total of three parking spaces has been provided on the site frontage along with cycle
parking.
In response to concerns from local residents about the number occupants, the
corresponding number of cars and impact on parking in the local area, the Oxfordshire
County Council Highways Officer carried out a site visit at 8.10pm to review the
carriageway conditions. They were satisfied that there was available space on-street for
parking in the vicinity.

Page 20

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

The site benefits from a high level of accessibility with many typical town centre
amenities, shops, services, employment opportunities and public transport links within
walking distance.
Furthermore, there are on-street controls within the vicinity to prevent indiscriminate
and/or obstructive parking. There are also a number of car parks within walking
distance of the site.
6.30 In conjunction with conditions ensuring the provision of cycle parking facilities and the
retention of the parking area being provided the proposal is unlikely to have a
significant adverse impact on the highway network and will accord with Policy TRANS5
of SOLP.
6.31 Carbon reduction.
Policy DES8 of SOLP states that all new development, including building conversions,
refurbishments and extensions, should seek to minimise the carbon and energy
impacts of their design and construction. Proposals must demonstrate that they are
seeking to limit greenhouse emissions through location, building orientation, design,
landscape and planting.
6.32 There is an important distinction to make between the building conversion and a
change of use. It is entirely possible to change the use of a building without works of
conversion.
In this case the change of use to a HMO could potentially occur without carrying out
any external works. The creation of a seventh bedroom within the roof space with the
erection of the dormer window is the only external works that are proposed in this
application.
6.33 It is difficult for the erection of a dormer window in isolation to bring about a limitation of
greenhouse emissions to this building that is required by this policy.
However, it is also important to remember that the dormer window can potentially be
erected without the need for planning permission and therefore it is your officers view
that the limited scope afforded by the external works to this building along with this fall back position is a material planning consideration that weighs heavy in the balance and
outweighs the requirements of Policy DES8.
6.34 Waste and recycling.
Policy EP3 requires development proposals for residential use to ensure adequate
facilities are provided for the sorting, storage and collection of waste and recycling.
The recommended condition requiring details of the refuse and recycling storage will
ensure that adequate provision is secured. The council’s waste management officer
does not object to the development. Therefore, subject to the recommended condition,
the application complies with policy EP3.
6.35 Biodiversity.
Policy ENV3 of SOLP relates to biodiversity. It states that all development should
provide a net gain in biodiversity where possible. As a minimum, there should be no net
loss of biodiversity.

Page 21

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

6.36 This development does not result in the loss of biodiversity. The scope of the changes
will be internal to the building with the exception of the dormer window.
Opportunities for a gain in biodiversity are limited on this site given the size of the plot
and the location. However, in your officers view the development does accord with
Policy ENV3 in as much as there will be no net loss of biodiversity.
In order to demonstrate a net gain a condition is proposed that requires a bird box to be
erected on the building thereby satisfying the requirement of Policy ENV3 of SOLP.
CIL.
CIL is liable to the amount of £2257.60 from this development.
7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
The loss of the employment use and conversion to residential use has already been
accepted as a result of the recent grant of prior approval from the council. This proposal
seeks to intensify the permitted residential use by creating a House of Multiple
Occupation. It is accepted that both parking and amenity space is below the council's
normal standards. However, the mitigating factor is the location of the site within the
town centre of Didcot and the access the occupants will have to all the amenities the
town centre provides including public transport links both to the wider locality and
regional locality in respect of the proximity of the railway station.
The proposed dormer window, whilst contrary to the design guide, is on the roof slope
of the building away from the adjacent conservation area and will not be prominent in
wider public views. In addition to the fact that the window could be erected under
permitted development rights should the building be used as permitted as a single
dwelling, this factor in addition the lack of any material harm to the setting of the
conservation area ensures that it is acceptable.
The development makes best use of a centrally located site and provides for a level of
accommodation which is not out of place for town centre location. In conjunction with
the attached conditions the proposal accords with the development plan.

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
That Planning Permission should be granted subject to the following conditions;
Standard conditions
1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2 : Approved plans
Prior to occupation conditions
3 : Refuse and recycling storage (details required)
4 : Parking and manoeuvring areas retained
5 : Cycle parking facilities
Compliance conditions
6 : Materials as on planning application forms
7 : Bird Box

Author:

Mr. P Bowers

E-mail:

planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Contact No

01235 422600
Page 22

Appendix 1

P21/S5378/FUL
Agenda Item 8

Page 23

EXISTING

PROPOSED

Site Location Plan

Site Location Plan

Scale 1:1250

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise noted all
dimensions are given in millimeters. All dims to be verified on site by
the Contractor before work commences. If any discrepancies are
found, Ktech is to be notified immediately for amendments. All work
to be carried out in strict accordance to relevant & current British
Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations & Building
Regulations. Where structural alterations take place, care must be
taken by the Contractor to afford required restraint to all affected
areas during & after the building work. Where new loads are
imposed on existing lintels, they must be checked by the Builder for
adequacy & to LA & SE approval & replaced if necessary. Where
applicable, this drawing must be read in conjunction with Structural
Calculations & other Consultants drawings; if drawings conflict,
Calculations must take precedence. The service provided by Ktech is
a drawing service for Planning and Building Regulations submissions
only; the company accepts no liability for any site works, defects or
future defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly or in
part without prior permission from the company.

Scale 1:1250

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

N
Block Plan

Block Plan

Scale 1:500

Scale 1:500

Appendix 2

Parking

Bike
store

Bins

Rev Date

Amendment

Ktech technical drawings

Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591 t:01494 717018 e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

Page 24

0

5

10
1:500

15

20

25m

0

5

10
1:500

15

20

Project
title:

Ridgeway House 1a Hagbourne
Road, Didcot, OX11 8DP

Drawing
title:

Conversion to HMO Site location & block plans

Scale:

1:1250, 500@A3

Drawn:

21-23_PL01_7

Rev.:

25m
Drawing
No.:

Drawing
For
status:

Planning Permission

16/12/2021

-

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10m

Ground floor plan
Garden

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise noted all dimensions are
given in millimeters. All dims to be verified on site by the Contractor before
work commences. If any discrepancies are found, Ktech is to be notified
immediately for amendments. All work to be carried out in strict accordance to
relevant & current British Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations &
Building Regulations. Where structural alterations take place, care must be
taken by the Contractor to afford required restraint to all affected areas during
& after the building work. Where new loads are imposed on existing lintels,
they must be checked by the Builder for adequacy & to LA & SE approval &
replaced if necessary. Where applicable, this drawing must be read in
conjunction with Structural Calculations & other Consultants drawings; if
drawings conflict, Calculations must take precedence. The service provided by
Ktech is a drawing service for Planning and Building Regulations submissions
only; the company accepts no liability for any site works, defects or future
defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly or in part without
prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings
Cpd

Kitchen

Cpd

Hall

Roof plan
Scale 1:200

Front elevation

Shower room

Flank elevation

WC

Kitchenette

Landing

Cpd

Rev Date

Amendment

Ktech technical drawings

Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591 t:01494 717018 e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

First floor plan

Rear elevation

Flank elevation/section

Page 25

Project
title:

Ridgeway House 1a Hagbourne
Road, Didcot, OX11 8DP

Drawing
title:

Conversion to HMO Existing plans & elevations

Scale:

1:100@A3

Drawn:

Drawing
No.:

21-23_PL02_7

Rev.:

Drawing
status:

For

Planning Approval

16/12/2021

-

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10m

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise noted all dimensions are
given in millimeters. All dims to be verified on site by the Contractor before
work commences. If any discrepancies are found, Ktech is to be notified
immediately for amendments. All work to be carried out in strict accordance to
relevant & current British Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations &
Building Regulations. Where structural alterations take place, care must be
taken by the Contractor to afford required restraint to all affected areas during
& after the building work. Where new loads are imposed on existing lintels,
they must be checked by the Builder for adequacy & to LA & SE approval &
replaced if necessary. Where applicable, this drawing must be read in
conjunction with Structural Calculations & other Consultants drawings; if
drawings conflict, Calculations must take precedence. The service provided by
Ktech is a drawing service for Planning and Building Regulations submissions
only; the company accepts no liability for any site works, defects or future
defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly or in part without
prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

Front elevation

Flank elevation

Rev Date

Amendment

Ktech technical drawings

Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591 t:01494 717018 e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

Page 26

Rear elevation

Flank elevation

Project
title:

Ridgeway House 1a Hagbourne
Road, Didcot, OX11 8DP

Drawing
title:

Conversion to HMO Proposed elevations

Scale:

1:100@A3

Drawn:

Drawing
No.:

21-23_PL04_7

Rev.:

Drawing
status:

For

Planning Approval

16/12/2021

-

0

Ground floor plan

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10m

Loft plan

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise noted all dimensions are
given in millimeters. All dims to be verified on site by the Contractor before
work commences. If any discrepancies are found, Ktech is to be notified
immediately for amendments. All work to be carried out in strict accordance to
relevant & current British Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations &
Building Regulations. Where structural alterations take place, care must be
taken by the Contractor to afford required restraint to all affected areas during
& after the building work. Where new loads are imposed on existing lintels,
they must be checked by the Builder for adequacy & to LA & SE approval &
replaced if necessary. Where applicable, this drawing must be read in
conjunction with Structural Calculations & other Consultants drawings; if
drawings conflict, Calculations must take precedence. The service provided by
Ktech is a drawing service for Planning and Building Regulations submissions
only; the company accepts no liability for any site works, defects or future
defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly or in part without
prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

Garden

+165 +140

Communal area
F/F
F/F
w/m
t/d
stacked

Hall

shelving

Bed07

FD

ht2300
ht1800
ht1175

FD

Bed01

FD

Bed02

FD

Bed03
Bed04
FD

Bed05
FD

FD

Bed06

Rev Date

Amendment

Ktech technical drawings

Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591 t:01494 717018 e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

Page 27

First floor plan

Roof plan

Project
title:

Ridgeway House 1a Hagbourne
Road, Didcot, OX11 8DP

Drawing
title:

Conversion to HMO Proposed plans

Scale:

1:100@A3

Drawn:

Drawing
No.:

21-23_PL03_sb

Rev.:

Drawing
status:

For

Planning Approval

16/12/2021

-

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

OFFICER

P21/S3035/FUL
FULL APPLICATION
19.7.2021
WALLINGFORD
Sue Roberts
George Levy
Mr Umesh Patel
21 St Martins Street, Wallingford, OX10 0AL
Extensions to the side and front elevation along with
alterations. Change of use to dry cleaners on ground
floor. New garage to rear of side extension and first
floor access. Proposed creation of 2 bedroom
apartment on 1st floor. New traditional timber style
shop front. New timber and slate tile lean-to canopy
to the rear elevation to replace uPVC canopy (As
amended by drawings received 26 October 2021
reducing footprint and amended energy information
received 11 November 2021)
Paul Bowers

1.0

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
This application was deferred from the planning committee meeting on 16 March 2022
because the time threshold for applications being considered had passed.

1.1

This report sets out the officer’s recommendation that the application should be
granted planning permission having regard to the material planning considerations
and the development plan.

1.2

The application has been referred to planning committee as the views of the
Wallingford Town Council differ from your officer’s recommendation of approval. In
addition, the application has been called to planning committee by the local ward
member, Councillor Levy, who has expressed concerns in relation to the impact of the
side extension on the adjoining listed building and the impact of parking and
manoeuvring at the rear of the site.

1.3

21 St Martin Street is located in the centre of Wallingford within the conservation area.
It is a two storey flat roof 1960s building set back behind the two properties on either
side.
To the north is the larger more recent development and to the south there is a grade
two listed building as well as listed buildings opposite to the east.
There is an existing retail use on the ground floor.
A plan identifying the site can be found at Appendix 1.

1.4

The application seeks full planning permission for extensions to the building to the
front, bringing it forward, and to the side. It is proposed to change the use of the
ground floor to a dry cleaners and create a residential unit at first floor level and
provide a garage to the rear.

Page 29

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

1.5

Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached as
Appendix 2 to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the
council’s website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference
number.

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Wallingford Town Council – Object to the development due to concerns about fumes
from the proposed dry cleaners
Third Party Representations – 3 x letters of objection covering the following issues;
- The impact on the heritage assets has not been appropriately assessed.
- The extension is unsympathetic to the neighbouring buildings.
- Concern over the impact on manoeuvring and visibility of schedules within the
rear courtyard.
- Concern over the tree within the courtyard.
- Loss of light in to adjoining offices.
County Archaeological Services– No objection subject to conditions requiring the
implementation of a watching brief.
Conservation Officer – No objection to the scheme as amended subject to a condition
requiring a schedule of materials to be submitted and approved.
Highways Liaison Officer – No objection subject to condition requiring that the garage
not be converted.
Contaminated Land – No objection subject to a condition that would bite if
contamination were to be found.
Environmental Protection Team – Some concern over odour emissions but recognise
that this can be controlled through other legislation beyond the planning system.
Forestry Officer – No objection subject to tree protection measures as proposed in the
application.

3.0
3.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P20/S3357/PEM - Advice provided (05/01/2021)
The proposals included within this pre-application involve extensions to the side and
front elevation along with alterations. The proposal will provide:
- Change of use to dry cleaners on ground floor
- Extension on ground floor to allow for adequate space for dry cleaning facilities,
including: 2 office's WC, store, Serving counter, reception and dry cleaning equipment
area.
- New garage to rear of side extension
- 2 Bedroom apartment on 1st floor with bathroom, kitchen, office and living room.
- New traditional style shop front
- New powder coated traditional style windows and roof lights
- Side extension to allow access to 1st floor residence
- New pitched clay tile roofs.

4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
N/A

Page 30

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
Development Plan Policies
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
DES1 - Delivering High Quality Development
DES10 - Carbon Reduction
DES2 - Enhancing Local Character
DES3 - Design and Access Statements
DES5 - Outdoor Amenity Space
DES6 - Residential Amenity
DES8 - Promoting Sustainable Design
ENV1 - Landscape and Countryside
ENV3 - Biodiversity
ENV6 - Historic Environment
ENV7 - Listed Buildings
ENV8 - Conservation Areas
ENV9 – Archaeology and scheduled ancient monuments
ENV11 - Pollution - Impact from existing and/ or Previous Land uses on new
Development and the Natural Environment (Potential receptors of Pollution)
ENV12 - Pollution - Impact of Development on Human Health, the Natural
Environment and/or Local Amenity (Potential Sources of Pollution)
H1 - Delivering New Homes
H3 - Housing in the towns of Henley-on-Thames, Thame and Wallingford
STRAT1 - The Overall Strategy
TRANS5 - Consideration of Development Proposals

5.2

Neighbourhood Plan
Wallingford Neighbourhood Plan (WNP) policies;
HA.1 – The historic environment
HA2 – Effects of development on historic and heritage assets
TC2 – New uses for buildings within the primary shopping frontage
MC1 – Transport statement and travel plan statement
MC5 – Vehicle Parking
MC7 – Provision of electric vehicle charging points

5.3

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.4

National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5

Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application, the Council has regard to its equalities
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.2

Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

Page 31

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

6.3

Development which is not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan should
be refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.4

In the case of this application South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) and the
Wallingford Neighbourhood Plan (WNP) comprise the development plan and the
policies within it must be assessed in relation to the material considerations relevant to
this proposal.

6.5

The main issues to consider in relation to this development are as follows;
-

The principle of development.
Impact heritage assets.
Impact on the amenities of the occupants of nearby properties.
Impact on trees.
Impact on highway safety.
Impact on archaeology.
Carbon reduction.
Contamination.
Biodiversity.

The principle of development
6.6

The scheme is broken up in to the following segments;
-

Proposed residential unit.
Change of use.
Extension to the building.

I will take each element in turn and assess the principle of each aspect of the
development.
Proposed residential unit.
6.7

Policy H1 of SOLP permits residential development on sites not allocated in the
Development Plan will only be permitted subject to a number of provisions which
includes where it is development within the existing built-up areas of Towns
and Larger Villages as defined in the settlement hierarchy (shown in Appendix 7);
provided an important open space of public, environmental, historical or ecological
value is not lost, nor an important public view harmed.

6.8

Policy WS1 of the WNP states that development proposals should take account of the
role of Wallingford as a market town in general, and its natural, heritage and
environmental characteristics in particular. Development proposals will be supported,
as appropriate to their scale and nature, where they positively support a locally
appropriate level of housing growth in the town, to create a compact form and to use
land efficiently, whilst also restricting inappropriate development in the countryside
areas outside the town.

6.9

Policy TC2 of WNP states that within the Town Centre the provision and retention of
active uses at first floor level and above will be supported. Employment and/or
residential uses will be particularly supported.

Page 32

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

6.10 The proposed residential development at first floor level within the town centre in a
highly sustainable location accords with the objectives of these proposes and in my
view is acceptable in principle.

Change of use.
6.11 Whilst the application proposes a change of use it is in fact the case that the existing
shop use on the ground floor ( currently a charity shop) and the proposed use as a dry
cleaners fall within the same use class.
6.12 This was formerly known as use Class A1 and following changes to the Use Classes
Order in 2020 it is now referred to as Class E.
6.13 Consequently, I am of the view but changing from the existing charity shop to a dry
cleaner does not constitute material change of use and will not have an impact on the
viability of Wallingford’s town centre.
Extension to the building.
6.14 There are no policies within either SOLP or the WNP that preclude the extension of
existing premises.
6.15 Policies within these documents are supportive of local businesses unemployment
generating sites and therefore the intensification an extension of an existing property
does, in my view, fall within the overall aim of supporting the local economy.
6.16 Therefore, I am of the view that the extension of this building is acceptable in principle.
The detail of that extension and how it affects other matters is considered in the
following sections of this report.
6.17 Your officers are satisfied the change in use and extension of this building to create an
enlarged floor area for a residential property at first floor and a dry cleaners on the
ground floor accord with various elements of the development plan and are acceptable
in principle.
Impact heritage assets.
6.18 Section 72 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
provides:
In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area, of
any [functions under or by virtue of] any of the provisions mentioned in subsection (2),
special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character or appearance of that area.
6.19 Section 72 (1) must also be considered alongside relevant policies contained in the
NPPF.
6.20 Paragraph 203 states that in determining applications LPA’s should take account of the
desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of the heritage assets and
putting them to viable use consistent with conservation, the positive contribution that
conservation deals with the impact of a proposed development on the “significance” of
heritage assets can make to sustainable communities including their economic vitality

Page 33

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

and the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local
character and distinctiveness.
6.21
Paragraph 205 When considering the impact of a proposed development on the
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This
is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or
less than substantial harm to its significance.
6.22
This is followed through into the development plan by policy ENV6, ENV7 and ENV8 of
SOLP which relates to conservation areas and WNP Policies HA1 and HA2.
6.23
More generally Policy DES1 seeks to ensure that all new development is of a high
quality design subject to a series of criteria and Policy DES2 states that all new
development must be designed to reflect the positive features that make up the
character of the local area and should both physically and visually enhance and
complement the surroundings.
6.24 This part of the conservation area is characterised by the historic streets that lead to
and from the Market Place that have an active commercial ground floor element with
residential uses on the storeys above. Nos. 22&23 St Martin’s Street are a C17 building
that survives in its smaller one and half storey form with a simple frontage and rear
extension that has escaped the re-fronting and extending of Georgian and Victorian
architectural periods seen in the other buildings in the town centre.
6.25 The existing building is of mid-20th century construction and holds no special
architectural or historic interest. It is inconsistent with the surrounding architectural
character of this part of the conservation area. This proposal presents an opportunity to
improve the contribution this site makes to the special interest of the designated
conservation area and the setting of the nearby listed buildings.
6.26 As originally submitted, the proposed side extension to form a stairwell, garage and
additional bedrooms to the first floor flat extend very close to Nos. 22&23 St Martins
Street. The grade II listed building, owing to its age and construction is very likely to
have shallow foundations. There was also concern about the forward extension of the
building in as much as it projected forward of number 20 St Martins Street.
6.27 The applicants have worked with officers to reduce the footprint of the side extension to
move it away from number 22 St Martins Street and also reduced the footprint of the
front extension.
6.28 These changes were sufficient to address and overcome the initial concerns expressed
by your conservation officer. The amended plans are considered by your officers to
show a development that preserves the character and appearance of the conservation
area.
6.29 A planning condition is proposed at the request of the conservation officer that requires
a photographic schedule of external materials for the council to consider and approve
before the development commences.
Impact on the amenities of the occupants of nearby properties.
6.30 Policy DES6 of SOLP relates to residential amenity and requires that development
proposals should demonstrate that they will not result in significant adverse impacts on
the amenity of neighbouring uses, when considering both individual and cumulative

Page 34

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

impacts in relation to loss of privacy, day light and sunlight, dominance or visual
intrusion, noise or vibration, smell dust, heat, odour or other emissions, pollution and
external lighting.
6.31 The most affected premises by this development in terms of the extension to the
building to the side and to the front is the adjacent property at 22 St. Martin Street. This
is a commercial premises with offices on the ground and first floor with windows to the
front side and rear.
6.32 Referring back to Policy DES6 this policy relates to residential amenity and not the
amenity of commercial premises. The impact on 22 St. Martin Street cannot be
considered in the same way as the council would consider the impact on primary living
rooms of a residential property.
6.33 There are no other policies within the development plan that seek to protect the
amenity of users of commercial premises. In any event in respect of light entering this
building windows at the front and rear will ensure these areas remain usable.
6.34 Concern has been expressed both by the Town Council and to an extent by the District
Council's Environmental Health Officer in relation to the possibility of impacts on both
the new residential unit at first floor level and nearby residential properties from the
emanation of odours in connection with the dry-cleaning service being offered at
ground floor level.
6.35 There will always be the possibility that odours will emanate from the building from the
activity associated with the dry cleaning process. Unless the ground floor of the unit
was sealed in some way the possibility of this occurring will always exist. Sealing the
ground floor would not be an option given that it has a shop front and there is a need
for ventilation.
6.36 However, it is important to recognise but there is other legislation available to the
council to control issues surrounding odour, such as the requirement to have a pollution
control permit to operate and statutory nuisance legislation would cover odours from a
commercial premises such as this.
6.37 In addition, it is worth reemphasising that the change from a shop to a dry cleaner does
not constitute a material change of use in planning terms and it could occur at any time.
6.38 Your officers are therefore satisfied that the release of odour from this new activity can
be adequately controlled through legislation that is outside of the planning system.
6.39 Overall, your officers are satisfied that the proposed development would not result in an
unneighbourly impact.
Impact on trees.
6.40 Policy ENV1 of SOLP states that South Oxfordshire’s landscape, countryside and rural
areas will be protected against harmful development. Development will only be
permitted where it protects and, where possible enhances, features that contribute to
the nature and quality of South Oxfordshire’s landscapes, in particular trees (including
individual trees, groups of trees and woodlands), hedgerows and field boundaries.

Page 35

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

6.41 The mature Indian bean tree located to the southwest is protected as it is located within
the conservation area.
6.42 The applicant has submitted an Arboricultural Impact Assessment Report dated 21
October 2021 which can be found within the Design, Access, and Justification
Statement. The report concludes that the proposal will not adversely affect the adjacent
tree.
6.43 The Tree Officer has considered the details of the method statement and agrees with
the conclusions set out in the report. He has requested a planning condition that
requires the implementation of the tree protection measures set out at the arboricultural
method statement be undertaken prior to the commencement of all works. I have
therefore proposed this as a planning condition and forms part of this recommendation.
6.44 Consequently, the development will accord with Policy ENV1 of SOLP.
Impact on highway safety.
6.45 With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows:
Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe.
6.46 The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely to
result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact.
6.47 Policy TRANS5 of SOLP seeks to ensure that development does not harm highway
safety and provides for sufficient parking and turning areas.

6.48 A two-bedroom residential unit is proposed on the first floor with a garage parking
space, which meets dimensional standards. Access to this parking space is via third
party land.
6.49 The site is located in a sustainable area with good access to buses within walking
distance of the site. The site also benefits from its proximity to the town centre which
offers a wide-ranging retail and leisure facilities and a range of employment
opportunities.
6.50 Furthermore, there are on-street controls within the vicinity to prevent indiscriminate
parking and additionally within the vicinity of the site is a number of car parks. No
change is proposed to the existing access arrangements.
6.51 The proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on the highway network.
6.52 The concern expressed by the objector of this development relating to the visibility and
manoeuvring within the parking area at the rear of the site is noted. However, the
council cannot control the safety of vehicles or pedestrians on private land.
6.53 The applicants have shown an adequate level of parking provision and manoeuvring for
the vehicles to exit the site safely. This is the extent of the control the council is able to
exercise through this planning application.

Page 36

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

6.54 Your offices and the highway officer are satisfied that the development accords with
policy TRANS5 of SOLP.
Impact on archaeology.
6.55 Policy ENV9 of SOLP relates specifically to archaeology. It states that development
must protect the site and setting of Scheduled Monuments or nationally important
designated or undesignated archaeological remains.
6.56 Applicants will be expected to undertake an assessment of appropriate detail to
determine whether the development site is known to, or is likely to, contain
archaeological remains. Proposals must show the development proposals have had
regard to any such remains.
6.57 Where the assessment indicates archaeological remains on site, and development
could disturb or adversely affect archaeological remains and/or their setting, applicants
will be expected to:
i) submit an appropriate archaeological desk-based assessment; or
ii) undertake a field evaluation (conducted by a suitably qualified
archaeological organisation), where necessary.
6.58 The building is located in an area of considerable archaeological potential within the
Saxon and Medieval core of the settlement. The proposed building is sited just off St
Martins Street, which is thought to be part of the original rectilinear street pattern of the
9th century Saxon Burh. The area is 120m north of the south gate of the Saxon walled
Burh and Anglo Saxon settlement evidence in the form of a floor and pits has been
recorded 90m to the east of the site.
6.59 This area also formed the core of the medieval settlement. Medieval finds from the
immediate area include a sequence of deposits dating back to the 11th or 12th century
observed during redevelopment in 2003, on the site of 51-53 St Mary Street, 50m north
of the application area. A further medieval pit has been recorded, at 21-22 St Marys
Street, during a watching brief just 25m northeast of the site. Medieval burials have
been recorded 120m east of the site in 1877 on the site of Wilder's Iron Foundry which
may indicate the site of the graveyard of St Rumbold's church. It is therefore possible
that archaeological deposits related to these periods could survive within the site and
could be disturbed by this development.
6.60 The Oxfordshire County Council Archaeologist has recommended that the applicant
should be responsible for ensuring the implementation of an archaeological monitoring
and recording action (watching brief) to be maintained during the period of construction.
This is ensured through the imposition of two of the proposed conditions set out in
paragraph 8.2 of this report.
6.61 In conjunction with this condition the proposal will accord with Policy ENV9.
Carbon reduction.
6.62 Policy DES8 of SOLP states that all new development, including building conversions,
refurbishments and extensions, should seek to minimise the carbon and energy
impacts of their design and construction. Proposals must demonstrate that they are
seeking to limit greenhouse emissions through location, building orientation, design,
landscape and planting.

Page 37

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

6.63 Although not required in Policy DES8 the applicants have produced an energy
statement to support their application. The report concludes the proposed residential
unit would improve upon the building regulations CO2 emissions targets through fabric,
systems and lighting by 15% over part L of the 2013 building regulations.
6.64 In your officer’s view this clearly demonstrates compliance with the requirements of
policy DES8. In addition, the planning condition is proposed that seeks to ensure the
provision open electrical charging point such that the development will then accord with
the relevant part of Policy TRANS5 that seeks to support the take up of electric and/or
low emission vehicles.
Contamination.
6.65 Policy ENV11 of SOLP states that development proposals should be appropriate to
their location and should be designed to ensure that the occupiers of a new
development will not be subject to individual and/or cumulative adverse effect(s) of
pollution. Proposals will need to avoid or provide details of proposed mitigation
methods to protect occupiers of a new development from the adverse impact(s) of
pollution.
6.66 The Phase I Desk Study report (ref. S.5709) dated April 2021 which accompanied the
application has been reviewed with respect to contaminated land issues.
6.67 After review of the report findings your Contaminated Land Officer is satisfied that,
given the proposed end use and the limited ground disturbance involved no further
intrusive investigation into potential contaminated land is required.
6.68 However, to address the potential for asbestos-containing material in the building
planned for renovation, as well as the potential for the discovery of unsuspected
contamination being found a planning condition relating to the unsuspected land
contamination and the need to inform the council and remedy the matter to the
council’s approval along with an informative to be included on the decision notice
relation to asbestos containing material is proposed as part of this recommendation.
Biodiversity.
6.69 Policy ENV3 of SOLP relates to biodiversity. It states that all development should
provide a net gain in biodiversity where possible. As a minimum, there should be no net
loss of biodiversity.
6.70 This development does not result in the loss of biodiversity. Opportunities for a gain in
biodiversity are very limited on this site given the size of the plot and the location. There
will be no net loss of biodiversity and a condition is proposed that requires a bird box to
be erected on the building to satisfy the requirement of Policy ENV3 of SOLP.
7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
The proposed development will result in the creation over new residential unit in a
highly sustainable location within the town centre of Wallingford.

7.2

The proposed extension allows for the creation of a unit to be occupied by a dry cleaner
on the ground floor. The scheme overall complies with the objectives of sustaining and
enhancing both the town centre economy and that of the wider district.

Page 38

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

7.3

The scheme in his amended form has ensured that the proposal will not cause harm to
the setting of the adjacent listed buildings or will preserve the character of the wider
conservation area.

7.4

In conjunction within conditions relating to tree protection, land contamination and
requiring the approval of external materials, the proposed development will comply with
development plan policies.

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
That Planning Permission is granted subject to the following conditions;
Standard Conditions 1. Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2. Approved plans *
Pre-commencement conditions 3. Schedule of Materials
4. Archaeological Watching Brief
5. Implementation of Programme or Archaeological Work
Compliance conditions 6. Unsuspected Contaminated Land Condition
7. No Garage conversion into accommodation
8. Tree protection (implementation as approved)
9. Electric Vehicle Charging Points (details required)
10. Provision of a bird box

Author:
E-mail:
Contact No:

Mr. P Bowers
planning@southoxon.gov.uk
01235 422600

Page 39

This page is intentionally left blank

Notes
1. Copyright Jessop and Cook Architects Limited.

1 to 6

2. Do not scale from drawings, all dimensions to be
checked on site.

18

51

19

6
2

St Mary
use

1

1 to 10

e

Crown Ho

's Arcad

1 to 6

21a

Car Park

7

Silversmith Place

21

ouse

1 to 12

Shilling H

St Mary's
Court

18

46 to 5
0

51

46 to 50

18

17

1 to 10

Crown Ho
use

18

45

21

23

24

23 to 35

9

2 to

23b

6

Church

Property
Boundary

Mature indian
bean tree

n

25

24

Greentree In

23

17

22
18 to

2

SQUARE
4

3

5

35

23a

Right of way
access

ST
LEONARDS

55abc

20

55abc

45

20
21

23

Church

Property
Boundary

1

38

39

13 to

22

23
23a

23b

Right of way
access
Mature indian
bean tree

Appendix 1

22

El Sub Sta

23 to 35

El Sub Sta

21b

17

7

21a

Car Park

2
Arcade

1

Silversmith Place

21

use

St Mary's

21b

19

6

1 to 12

Shilling Ho

St Mary's
Court

10

20

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

9

ST

1

100m

SQUARE
38

43

26

4 3

CLOSE

n

19.10.21
19.07.21
23.06.21

Planning Amendments
Scale Amendments
Planning Issue

Revisions

Change of use to a dry cleaners and apartment
including extensions and alterations at
21 St Martins Street, Wallingford, Oxon, OX10 0AL
for
Mr Umesh Patel

Drawing title

Site Location and
Existing Block Plan

Scale 1:500
0

10

Scale Bar 1:500

20

30

40

EOB
EOB
EOB

WEST WING, SECOND FLOOR
9 PARK END STREET
OXFORD OX1 1HH

50

50m

JESSOP & COOK
ARCHITECTS

T:01865 591212
E: info@jessopandcook.co.uk
www.jessopandcook.co.uk

Page 41

Scale at A2

Date

Drawn by

1:1250, 1:500

July 21

EOB

Drawing number

Revision

P.1484_001

C

P21/S3035/FUL
Agenda Item 9

EXISTING BLOCK PLAN

Greentree In

C
B
A

PLANNING AMENDMENTS
25

39

35

5

13 to

2

LEONARDS

6

Scale Bar 1:1250

N

30

4

0

18 to
22

Scale 1:1250

3

17

SITE LOCATION PLAN

2 to

43

26

4 3

CLOSE

Checked

Notes
1. Copyright Jessop and Cook Architects Limited.
2. Do not scale from drawings, all dimensions to be
checked on site.

Brick edging
Ramp
Brick edging
03
005

Ramp

IC
Utilities

A
006
Ashphalt

Brick edging

uPVC
Canopy

Ashphalt

Right of Access

IC
Utilities

Kitchen

04
IC
Utilities

Landing

005

Hallway

Cup'd

005

Appendix 2

Office

Cup'd

Counter
02

Timber posts

B
006

Gate

IC
Utilities

IC
Utilities

Toilet
Toilet

Cup'd

B
006

Lobby

Ashphalt

Shop

(Limited
access)

Office

Gate

Office

No.20

No.20

Gate

Gravel

A

19.10.21

Planning Amendments

EOB

Revisions

RWP

Canopy

A

Ashphalt
IC
Utilities

No.22

IC
Utilities

006

PLANNING AMENDMENTS
Change of use to a dry cleaners and apartment
including extensions and alterations at
21 St Martins Street, Wallingford, Oxon, OX10 0AL

Ashphalt
Brick edging

IC
Utilities

for
Mr Umesh Patel

01

No.22

005
Water
Brick setts

IC
Utilities

Water

Tiles

Drawing title

Existing Ground Floor
and First Floor Plan

Ashphalt
WEST WING, SECOND FLOOR
9 PARK END STREET
OXFORD OX1 1HH

Ashphalt

JESSOP & COOK
ARCHITECTS

GROUND FLOOR
0

1

2

3

FIRST FLOOR
4

5

T:01865 591212
E: info@jessopandcook.co.uk
www.jessopandcook.co.uk

N

Page 42

Scale at A2

Date

Drawn by

1:100

Jun 21

EOB

5m
Scale Bar 1:100

Drawing number

Revision

P.1484_010

A

Checked

Notes
1. Copyright Jessop and Cook Architects Limited.
2. Do not scale from drawings, all dimensions to be
checked on site.

B

Boundary line

Boundary line

Boundary line

El Sub Sta

013
04

A

012

013
A

03

013
01

012

012

B

Aluminum Windows

Aluminum Windows

013

Brick

Brick

Brick

02
012

Brick
uPCV canopy

Scale n/a

Metal gate

Aluminum Shop Frontage

N

KEY PLAN

Timber fence and door

Metal gate

Aluminum Door

No.21 St Martins Street
Existing Building

Existing Building

ELEVATION 1

Boundary line

Boundary line

Boundary line

ELEVATION 2

A

19.10.21

Planning Amendments

EOB

Revisions

Aluminum Windows

PLANNING AMENDMENTS

Brick

Brick

Brick

uPCV
canopy

uPCV
canopy

Change of use to a dry cleaners and apartment
including extensions and alterations at
21 St Martins Street, Wallingford, Oxon, OX10 0AL
for
Mr Umesh Patel

Timber gate
Limited Access

Timber door

Drawing title

Exsiting Elevations
No.21 St Martins Street

Existing Building

Existing Building

ELEVATION 4

ELEVATION 3
0

1

2

3
5m

Page 43

Scale Bar 1:100

4

WEST WING, SECOND FLOOR
9 PARK END STREET
OXFORD OX1 1HH

JESSOP & COOK
ARCHITECTS

5

T:01865 591212
E: info@jessopandcook.co.uk
www.jessopandcook.co.uk

Scale at A2

Date

Drawn by

1:100

Jun 21

EOB

Drawing number

Revision

P.1484_012

A

Checked

Notes
1. Copyright Jessop and Cook Architects Limited.
2. Do not scale from drawings, all dimensions to be
checked on site.

Lead valley
Ridge tile

RWP

RWP
PV

Solar panels

PV

PV

Lead valley

PV

RWP

Lead valley

RWP

Rooflight

Single
Ply
Membrane
Rooflight

Rooflight

RWP

PV

PV

No.20

PV

PV

Rooflight

Ridge tile

RWP

Rooflight

Rooflight

B
A

19.10.21
28.06.21

Planning Amendments
Rear window and canopy
alteration

EOB
EOB

Revisions

RWP

PLANNING AMENDMENTS
Change of use to a dry cleaners and apartment
including extensions and alterations at
21 St Martins Street, Wallingford, Oxon, OX10 0AL
for
Mr Umesh Patel

Drawing title

Proposed Roof Plan

WEST WING, SECOND FLOOR
9 PARK END STREET
OXFORD OX1 1HH

JESSOP & COOK
ARCHITECTS

ROOF PLAN
0

1

2

3

4

5
N

Page 44

5m
Scale Bar 1:100

T:01865 591212
E: info@jessopandcook.co.uk
www.jessopandcook.co.uk

Scale at A2

Date

Drawn by

1:100

Jun 21

EOB

Drawing number

Revision

P.1484_022

B

Checked

Notes
1. Copyright Jessop and Cook Architects Limited.
2. Do not scale from drawings, all dimensions to be
checked on site.

Ashphalt
Ramp
Brick edging
IC
Utilities
03
023

Existing mature Indian bean tree
Exg wall

Timber canopy
overhead

Right of Way
Access

RWP

Store

04

Store

023

Bathroom

Kitchen

024

023

RWP

RWP

C

02

Timber canopy with
slate tiles

Ashphalt
RWP

Equip.
RWP

RWP

Exg timber posts
3500

3249
1
2

Dry Cleaning
equipment area

5
4

3

RWP

Bedroom 2

New frosted glass
timber framed window

roof light

13 15 17 19
14 16 18 20
12
11
10
9
8
7
6

(Limited
access)

roof light

Landing

Bedroom 1

roof light

5
4

2 1
1

RWP

Strg

coats

WC

Mid-height partition

11
10
9
8
7
6

Gate

Strg

IC
Utilities

IC
Utilities

5500

Garage

Strg /
boiler

RWP

3000

3

2

RWP
New frosted
glass timber
framed window

C
024

Gate

No.20

No.20

New frosted
glass timber
framed window

Gravel

Office

roof light

RWP

RWP
roof light

Ashphalt

roof light

Serving counter
Repositioned access
chamber, subject to
detail design

No.22
RWP

RWP

Living Area

Water
Brick setts

IC
Utilities

Water

Ashphalt

Ashphalt

01
023

B

19.10.21

Planning Amendments

EOB

A

28.06.21

Rear window and canopy
alteration

EOB

Revisions

GROUND FLOOR
0

1

2

3

FIRST FLOOR
4

PLANNING AMENDMENTS

5
N

5m
Scale Bar 1:100

Change of use to a dry cleaners and apartment
including extensions and alterations at
21 St Martins Street, Wallingford, Oxon, OX10 0AL
for
Mr Umesh Patel

Drawing title

Revised floor plans

WEST WING, SECOND FLOOR
9 PARK END STREET
OXFORD OX1 1HH

JESSOP & COOK
ARCHITECTS
Page 45

T:01865 591212
E: info@jessopandcook.co.uk
www.jessopandcook.co.uk

Scale at A1

Date

Drawn by

Checked

1:100

Oct 21

EOB

-

Drawing number

Revision

P.1484_021

B

Notes
1. Copyright Jessop and Cook Architects Limited.
2. Do not scale from drawings, all dimensions to be
checked on site.

04

20

023
03
023
01

Boundary line

Boundary line

Boundary line

C

023

024
C
024

Church

PV

PV

PV

PV

PV

PV

PV

PV

23

Slate tile
02
023

Loft

N

KEY PLAN
Scale n/a

Bedroom 2

New timber
lean-to
canopy

Dwelling
access

3067.6

Brick

B
A

Brick
2120

Garage

Planning Amendments
Rear window and canopy
alteration

EOB
EOB

Revisions

New
RWP

1007

New
RWP
4374

19.10.21
28.06.21

PLANNING AMENDMENTS
Change of use to a dry cleaners and apartment
including extensions and alterations at
21 St Martins Street, Wallingford, Oxon, OX10 0AL

1644
6018

Right of Access

for
Mr Umesh Patel

No.21 St Martins Street
New extension to side

New extension to front
Drawing title

Proposed Section CC

0

1

2

3

4

WEST WING, SECOND FLOOR
9 PARK END STREET
OXFORD OX1 1HH

5

5m
Scale Bar 1:100

JESSOP & COOK
ARCHITECTS

Page 46

T:01865 591212
E: info@jessopandcook.co.uk
www.jessopandcook.co.uk

Scale at A3

Date

Drawn by

1:100

Jun 21

EOB

Drawing number

Revision

P.1484_024

B

Checked

Notes
1. Copyright Jessop and Cook Architects Limited.

Slate tile

Boundary line

Boundary line

Boundary line

Boundary line

2. Do not scale from drawings, all dimensions to be
checked on site.

El
Sub Sta
No.20

Conservation style rooflights

04
023
03

Slate tile
PV

Slate tile

PV

PV

023

PV

PV

Slate tile

PV

PV

PV

01

C

Slate tile

023

024
C
024

Timber framed
windows

Brick

Timber
framed oriel
window

Brick detailing

Care dry cleaners and laundry service

Brick

Timber framed
windows with
frosted glazing

Timber framed
windows with
frosted glazing
Brick detailing

Brick

No.20
Canopy

02

Brick

023

Tel: 01491 837318

New timber
lean-to
canopy

Brick detailing

Brick detailing

N

KEY PLAN

Brick

Scale n/a
New
RWP

Timber
door

Traditional glazed
timber shop
frontage

New
RWP
Existing
timber
gate

Traditional
glazed timber
shop door

Existing timber post
New
RWP

New
RWP

New
RWP
No.21 St Martins Street

No.21 St Martins Street

Exg No.21 footprint

Exg No.21 footprint

New extension to front

New
RWP

New extension to side

ELEVATION 1

New extension to front

Boundary line

Boundary line

Boundary line

Boundary line

ELEVATION 2

Conservation style
rooflights

Slate tile

Slate tile

Slate tile

B
A

Brick

Revisions

Brick
detailing

Brick detailing

Brick

New
timber
lean -to
canopy

Existing
gate
Existing timber post

Existing timber doors

Garage door

New
RWP

Exg No.21 footprint

0

1

2

3

4

New
RWP

Pavement

Drawing title

Proposed Elevations
No.21 St Martins Street

New extension to side

New extension to front

ELEVATION 4

ELEVATION 3

Change of use to a dry cleaners and apartment
including extensions and alterations at
21 St Martins Street, Wallingford, Oxon, OX10 0AL
for
Mr Umesh Patel

New
RWP

No.21 St Martins Street

EOB
EOB

Brick

Brick

New
RWP

Planning Amendments
Rear window and canopy
alteration

PLANNING AMENDMENTS

Brick detailing
New timber lean-to
canopy with slate tiles

19.10.21
28.06.21

WEST WING, SECOND FLOOR
9 PARK END STREET
OXFORD OX1 1HH

Exg No.21 footprint

JESSOP & COOK
ARCHITECTS

5

T:01865 591212
E: info@jessopandcook.co.uk
www.jessopandcook.co.uk

5m
Scale Bar 1:100

Page 47

Scale at A2

Date

Drawn by

1:100

Jun 21

EOB

Drawing number

Revision

P.1484_023

B

Checked

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL
OFFICER

P21/S5332/FUL
FULL APPLICATION
21.12.2021
STOKE ROW
Jo Robb
Lorraine Hillier
Mr Dan Redfern
The Cherry Tree Inn, Stoke Row Road, Stoke Row,
RG9 5QA
Outdoor marquee and pizza oven
Davina Sarac

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
This application is referred to the Planning Committee as it has been called in by a
local ward Councillor on the grounds that the impact upon the setting of the listed
building and the conservation area, and the residential amenity of the neighbours
nearby needs careful consideration; and that the officers’ recommendation conflicts
with the views of Stoke Row Parish Council.

1.2

The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A)
consists of the Cherry Tree Inn, its gardens and parking area. Cherry Tree Inn is a
grade II listed public house (approx. 200 square metres) within the settlement of Stoke
Row. It is probably a late 17th century building with an early 18th century frontage
constructed in red brick and flint walls with old plain-tile roof. The building has a 19th
century single storey and attic extensions to left and right. It is located on the main
road through the village, adjacent to the village green and within its Conservation
Area. The site is also within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
(AONB).

1.3

The application seeks planning permission for the retention of a marquee on a
permanent basis on part of the existing beer garden. The marquee is already in place
as shown below. It is approximately 12 metres by 12 metres in size and has a covered
canopy walkway section at the front that leads up to the front of the pub.

Page 49

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

The application also states it seeks permission for the outdoor pizza oven. However,
the pizza oven is a movable structure and therefore does not require planning
permission. The plans are available to view online on the Council’s website (and
attached as Appendix B).
2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Stoke Row Parish Council – Objects on the grounds that the marquee would:  be inappropriate and detrimental to the character of the conservation area;
 increase in parking pressure on the village;
 not be needed because people are returning to pubs as social distancing
restrictions are being lifted;
 not be needed for the pub to remain viable.
If the marquee is to be used for weddings the Parish would like to see Traffic Plan,
Noise Mitigation, Acoustic Performance.
A lot of letters in support for the proposal are from outside of the village and county.
Regarding the pizza oven the Parish has no objections to the oven providing the site is
screened in natural materials to ensure the vista of the site is not spoilt, no delivery
service is allowed with on site consumption only and the oven is tested to ensure air
quality, smoke paths, and odour are not impinging on surrounding residential dwellings.

2.2

Conservation Officer (South and Vale) - Recommend approval on the condition that it is
classed as a temporary addition, with the condition that it be removed by the end of a
fixed period of 3 years from the time of approval.

2.3

South and Vale District of CPRE - CPRE agrees with the views of the Conservation
Officer and would support temporary permission for 3 years from the time of approval if
planning officers are satisfied that the marquee and pizza oven are not harmful to the
Conservation Area or Chilterns AONB. Some concerns over the potential increase in
traffic on the narrow roads and the associated parking and road safety problems

2.4

Environmental Protection Team - Concerns about noise from the marquee and also
concerns about odour and smoke from the pizza oven. Request further information
such as a noise impact assessment, detailing the acoustic performance of the
marquee.

2.5

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – No objections.

2.6

Forestry Officer (South and Vale) – No objection. The additional planting of three more
cherry trees will help to secure the attractive tree cover for the site.

2.7

Food Safety – No comments on the proposal.

2.8

Public consultation responses – The Council received a total of 131 responses. Of
these responses the majority were in support of the proposal. I have summarised the
main points that were raised both for and against the proposal: In Support of the proposal:


Marquee is a great attribute to the
pub and village enabling
customers to spread out and eat
without feeling overcrowded with

Objections to the proposal:


Object to the marquee being
permanent, it was great during the
pandemic but not as a permanent
fixture.
Page 50

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022















good ventilation in these
uncertain times.
Marquee does not have
detrimental effect on the village.
Only visible from a small area of
the approach as you pass and its
value far outweighs any concerns
of how it looks.
Pizza Oven is great addition.
Marquee is where people feel
safe and comfortable.
Pub industry declined during
covid and applications such as
this help them recover.
An invaluable resource to the
community during the challenging
periods and continues to prove
extremely popular with many
visitors.
It has increased employment
opportunities within the 18 to 25
year old age demographic, within
a rural economy where this age
group often find employment
challenging.
The application is supported by
the strategic objectives in the
South Oxfordshire Local Plan
2011 - 2035 and does not
contravene any of the objectives.
Unless we support these rural
pubs, they will not survive. The
last thing we want is to lose
another local pub.

















Detrimental to character of the
Listed pub and the village and
conservation area.
Detrimental to the setting of the
listed pub.
It is out of keeping, very large and
stark and takes away from the
charm of the listed pub behind it,
within the conservation area.
The proposed development results
in the intensification of use which
conflicts with the special
character of the area.
Open spaces and important views
that contribute to the character of
the area will not be retained.
The marquee is not sympathetic to
the original structure in design,
scale, and materials. It dominates
and overwhelms the listed building
All 'socially distanced' dining
restrictions now removed so fail to
see the requirement to retain it
now.
Increase in traffic and inadequate
off street parking for enlarged
customer base.
Pizza Oven is out of keeping and
the fumes and smells from it would
be unneighbourly.
Noise disturbance. Marquee is not
sound proof.
Several accidents involving cars
outside the pub on the main road.

3.0
3.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
None relevant to this application.

4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Not applicable for an application of this nature.

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance
(NPPG)
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (s66, s72)
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (s85)

5.2

Development Plan Policies
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
CF1 - Safeguarding Community Facilities
DES6 - Residential Amenity
ENV1 - Landscape and Countryside
ENV12 - Pollution - Impact of Development on Human Health, the Natural Environment
and/or Local Amenity (Potential Sources of Pollution)

Page 51

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

ENV6 - Historic Environment
ENV7 - Listed Buildings
ENV8 - Conservation Areas
STRAT1 - The Overall Strategy
TRANS5 - Consideration of Development Proposals
5.3

Neighbourhood Plan
Stoke Row does not have a neighbourhood plan.

5.4

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.5

Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The relevant planning considerations are the following:







Principle of the development
Whether the development would preserve or enhance the character or
appearance of the Stoke Row Conservation Area, and conserve and
enhance the setting of the grade II listed building.
Whether the development would preserve or enhance the landscape and
scenic beauty of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
(AONB).
Residential amenity
Access and Parking
Other material planning considerations

Principle of the Development
6.2

The marquee is currently erected and has been in place since last year. Permitted
development rights regarding the erection of temporary buildings and structures are
outlined within Part 4 of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended). Specifically, section Class BB of
Part 4 of Schedule 2 allows for the provision of any moveable structure, under the prior
approval process for those erected within the curtilage of listed building. The section
most relevant to this proposal is the following:
Permitted development
BB. The provision of one moveable structure within the curtilage, and for the purposes,
of—
(a) a listed building used for a purpose within—
(i) article 3(6)(p) or (q) (drinking establishments etc.) of the Use Classes Order; or
(ii) Class E(b) (sale of food and drink etc.) of Schedule 2 to that Order; or
(b) a historic visitor attraction.

Page 52

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

Development not permitted
BB.1. Development is not permitted by Class BB—
(a) on land which is or forms part of a scheduled monument or land within its curtilage;
(b) if any part of the moveable structure would be within 2 metres of the curtilage of
any adjacent land that is used for a purpose within Part C (residential uses) of Schedule
1 to the Use Classes Order;
(c) if it would result in provision of a moveable structure being made within the curtilage
of a building under Class BB on a total of more than 120 days in the relevant period;
(d) if the height of the moveable structure would exceed 3 metres;
(e) if the footprint of the moveable structure would exceed the lesser of—
(i) 50% of the footprint of the building, or
(ii) 50 square metres;
(f) if the moveable structure is used for the display of an advertisement.
The marquee is within the curtilage of a listed building. Its currently 12.1 metres by 12.2
metres (147.6 square metres) and 4.4 metres in height. Therefore, the marquee would
not meet criteria (d) and (e) of Class BB.1 of Part 4 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO.
However, the fallback position is such that the applicant could take down the marquee
and apply to put up a smaller marquee that complies with criteria (d) and (e) above
under permitted development rights for 120 days of the year every year. However, the
applicant would like to retain the existing marquee on a more permanent basis due to
an ongoing desire to provide a more flexible outdoor space for customers as the pub is
seeking to recoup some of its losses from being closed during the covid 19 pandemic.
6.3

Furthermore, the government has understandably placed emphasis on measures to
support the hospitality business during the covid 19 pandemic, and the permitted
development right as outlined above is part of this. Policy CF1 of the SOLP seeks to
safeguard essential community facilities, such as public houses, in recognition of the
role such facilities play in the quality of life and social cohesion of local communities.
The marquee is designed to improve the functionality of the outside space at the
premises and in this regard helps to improve the viability of the business. In light of
this, and the fallback position of the provision of a moveable structure (such as a
marquee) for 120 days in a 12-month period, I consider the principle of the
development is acceptable, subject to other material considerations.
Whether the development would preserve or enhance the character and
appearance of the Stoke Row Conservation Area, and conserve and enhance the
setting of the grade II listed building.

6.4

The site is within the Stoke Row Conservation Area and the position of the marquee
forms part of the setting of the host Grade II listed building. Sections 66 and 72 of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 state, respectively, that
the local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the
listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest
which it possesses, and that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area. These requirements
are reflected in the NPPF and through Policies ENV6, ENV7 and ENV8 of the SOLP
2035.

6.5

The marquee is a lightweight structure of transient appearance comprising an
aluminium interior frame and PVC outer cover. It is sited on an area of the pub’s
existing beer garden as shown on the submitted plans. The marquee structure is not
attached to the listed building, although one of the posts is positioned right up against it

Page 53

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

and the canopy touches the roof canopy of the door. Listed building consent is not
required. The marquee is located forward of the grade II listed building but off set to
the eastern side within the existing pub garden. The marquee is visible from public
views especially in winter months when there is less foliage on the trees within the pub
garden. It does obscure some views towards the pub from some angles, but the main
frontage of the pub is still highly visible and not blocked by the marquee when viewed
from the front entrance of the site from the main road and from the western approach.
6.6

The pub garden forms part of the setting of the listed building and the character of the
conservation area in which it sits within. The Stoke Row conservation area is focused
around the village green which is its historic core. The Stoke Row Conservation Area
Character Study (2000) sets out that the open spaces, particularly the green itself, and
groups of trees predominate, and the cottages and other buildings are subservient to
this. Most buildings are small cottages but there are also larger properties with spacious
grounds. The significance of the conservation area is therefore derived from the pattern
of development, the open and verdant nature of the area and the historic fabric and
vernacular details of the buildings which are interspersed within it. The Cherry Tree Inn
pub garden contributes to the conservation area with the listed building, its trees and
open front garden enclosed by a simple post and rail fencing along Cherry Tree Close
and a hedge along the main road.

6.7

Officers consider that the position of the marquee does have a visual impact when
viewed from the street scene, but this is somewhat limited to mainly from the eastern
side of the main road and the grassed area in front of the Stoke Row Chapel and from
some views from Alma Green opposite. The marquee would be set forward of the
grade II listed pub and while it is partly screened by existing trees (predominately in
summer months) it is visible from public views, from the grassed area opposite the
chapel and from the main road adjacent to the pub and therefore visually prominent.
However, it is set back from the main road, with more than 50% of the pub garden
remaining open, this would help retain some of the existing openness of the pub
garden. Officers consider the marquee does not enhance or preserve the setting of the
listing building or the appearance of the conservation area as some of the openness of
the pub garden is lost along with views to the pub.

6.8

The Conservation Officer raised no objection to the application and suggests that the
marquee is permitted on a temporary basis only with the condition that it be removed by
the end of a fixed period of 3 years from the time of approval. The Conservation Officer
has stated that the harm identified to the historic environment would warrant this
restriction. It is clear that the marquee would provide ongoing benefits to the viability of
the business and the clientele from having a more flexible and adaptable external
drinking environment. Therefore, the retention of the marquee for a limited period of 3
years would provide benefits to the community, this is evident from the support the
application has received. The less than substantial harm caused by the marquee is
offset by enforcing this condition, as well as present public benefits. Its height would
mean that it would remain comfortably subservient to the main grade II listed building.
There are other outbuildings and ancillary development visible from within the
conservation area, and whilst the materials used for the marquee are not consistent
with other such ancillary buildings, given that it would be temporary only, and given the
fallback position of moveable structures being allowed under permitted development for
120 days a year, officers consider the application would not warrant refusal.

6.9

Furthermore, a landscape plan has been submitted showing that the applicant
proposes additional planting of three more cherry trees within the pub garden. There
are many mature and semi-mature trees which contribute to the character of the
conservation area and to the setting of historic buildings. The most important groups

Page 54

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

are to be found to the south of Red Cow House and to the north of the Chapel, while
several trees on the village green, to the front of Alma Green and within the gardens of
The Cherry Tree, are significant in their own right. This additional planting will help to
secure the attractive tree cover for the site and would provide long term benefits by
enhancing the setting of the listed building and appearance of the conservation area
even after the marquee is removed following the temporary three year period.
Whether the development would preserve or enhance the landscape and scenic
beauty of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
6.10 The site lies within the Chilterns AONB, where the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) directs that great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing the
landscape and scenic beauty of the area. This is reflected in Policy ENV1 of the SOLP
2035 which states that development in an AONB will only be permitted where it is
appropriate to the economic and environmental wellbeing of the area or promotes
understanding or enjoyment of the AONB. It is clear that the pub and the marquee are
enjoyed by both locals and those who live further away.
6.11 The loss of part of the beer garden’s open space would be harmful in the context of the
wider AONB, particularly bearing in mind the fall-back position as to the permitted
development rights for moveable structures for 120 days for a 12 month period.
Although the marquee is visible in views from the road, the character of a low density
settlement village within the AONB would remain essentially unaltered and the siting of
the marquee would accord with those in the immediate area. Views of the site are
localised amongst other things by the existing open green spaces and verdant
character of the surrounding area dispersed amongst residential dwellings. Accordingly,
whilst the application does change the landscape character and appearance of the area
in a limited way, the proposal would not be detrimental to the wider AONB and would
be beneficial to visitors to the area. The additional tree planting to increase the tree
cover on site would be an enhancement to the surrounding area.
Impact on the Amenity of Neighbouring Residential Occupiers
6.12 The site adjoins existing residential properties to the north and west. The pub is long
established, including the pub garden area and car park adjacent to the marquee. The
marquee will increase the likelihood of customers using the outside space but would not
materially alter the character of the pub’s use and would not fundamentally change the
relationship of the use with the adjoining residents. In this regard I do not consider that
the marquee would give rise to any substantial intensification of use to the detriment of
the neighbouring residential occupiers and would not conflict with Policy ENV12 of the
SOLP.
6.13 A number of concerns have been raised by local residents regarding the noise
disturbance from the use of the marquee, and the smell and fumes from the pizza oven.
As explained above the pizza oven does not require planning permission. The
Environmental Health Officer has also raised concerns about potential noise from the
marquee and requested further information such as a noise impact assessment,
detailing the acoustic performance of the marquee. The applicant’s agent sought advice
from a noise consultant regarding this matter. He stated that for a robust and defensible
noise impact assessment to be produced, measurements would have to be taken
during the summer months late at night, representative of “the worst-case scenario”.
Any assessment undertaken now/soon might not be a fair reflection. In any case, they
have questioned the need for the report, as the site is an existing beer garden and used
very often in the summer months. Whilst I appreciate that marquee structures do not

Page 55

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

provide particularly effective sound insulation, the structure does provide some noise
attenuation compared to an open garden.
6.14 According to Environmental Health records there has only been one noise complaint in
the past year about the pub which did not lead to any further action being taken. The
noise consultant is correct in terms of it being a bad time to make the noise
measurements and officers can see their point of view about it already being a beer
garden. The marquee would not materially alter the character of the pub’s use and
would not fundamentally change the relationship of the use with the adjoining residents.
Based on the above, I do not consider that a noise impact assessment for a marquee in
a pub garden is proportionate or necessarily useful in this instance. Alternatively,
officers consider that restricting the hours of use of the marquee, would go some way to
lessen the impact on those residents living nearby. It is proposed that the marquee be
only used up to 10pm. This seems reasonable as currently there are no restrictions of
use of the pub garden under the current licence. Should any unforeseen future noise
issues arise these will be dealt with by the Environment Health and Licencing Team.
Access and Parking
6.15 Policy TRANS5 seeks to ensure that development is served by appropriate access and
parking. The marquee does not affect the existing access arrangements from the main
road and does not result in the loss of any current parking spaces. In light of this, the
Local Highway Authority has raised no objection to the application on the basis that the
outdoor marquee is not a movement generator, the seating provision within the outdoor
marquee contains outdoor benches along with tables and chairs relocated from the
existing establishment.
6.16 It is apparent from the representations received from those objecting to the application
that some residents have raised issues with parking and have highlighted indiscriminate
and/or obstructive parking on the surrounding carriageway outside of the application
site. However, any indiscriminate or obstructive parking can be enforced by Thames
Valley Police. The parking issues indicated appear to be during weekend/bank
holidays, which are outside of the peak traffic periods. There may be a small element of
overspill parking onto surrounding streets at busy times, but this impact on highway
safety would be difficult to substantiate at appeal. In any case it is considered that the
benefits to the business and its customers weigh against the impacts of indiscriminate
parking which appears to be infrequent. Furthermore, officers are mindful that the
Local Highway Authority did not recommend refusal on Highway Safety grounds.
Other material planning considerations
6.17 The marquee does not necessitate any assessment in relation to the SOLP carbon
reduction policies.
6.18 From the representations received objecting to the application, a number of people
have raised the fact that the covid 19 pandemic is no longer in an emergency state and
that the restrictions have all, but a few been lifted. They go on to state the pandemic is
not a justification to allow the marquee to remain. At the time of writing this report the
number of cases of people testing positive for covid 19 are still high within the district.
The latest figures that showed that the total number of reported cases up to 22 March
2022 is 41,166 in South Oxfordshire and the total for the whole of England being
74,804 daily new cases (data source:
https://phdashboard.oxfordshire.gov.uk/?view=cases&location=South+Oxfordshire ).

Page 56

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

This is an increase in cases from this time last year as shown on the graph below: (The
number of newly confirmed cases of COVID-19 per day up to the date shown. Source:
GOV.UK)

6.19 Whilst the restrictions have been lifted, the above shows that we are still living with
covid 19 and that it will be around for the foreseeable future. In the first year of the
covid19 pandemic, global prevalence of anxiety and depression increased by a
massive 25%, according to a scientific brief released by the World Health Organization
(WHO) (source: https://www.who.int/ ). Whilst for the most part the latest variant is less
likely to result in deaths or hospitalisations for most people, the pandemic has affected
how some people continue to live their lives and socialise. Many still feel uncomfortable
around groups of people and tend to avoid crowded situations and gatherings. It is
evident from the comments supporting the application, that some local residents feel
more comfortable using the marquee rather than being inside the pub as it provides
more space and ventilation. So, whilst, restrictions have been lifted, it is clear that the
impact of how people perceive the spaces and how they use that space has changed
for many people indefinitely.
6.20 The marquee would result in some harm to the setting of the listed building and the
character and appearance conservation area. This harm results from the erosion of
the openness of the existing beer garden and the materials of the marquee as identified
in the previous paragraphs. The less than substantial harm caused by the marquee
can be offset by enforcing a temporary time limit condition. This along with the public
benefits which are clear from the number of supportive representations and the fact that
many people’s perception and use of the public spaces have been changed by the
pandemic, have tilted the balance in favour of allowing the marquee to be retained for a
temporary period of three years only.
6.21 Officers acknowledge that some of the representations received are from outside the
village and district, but this is also indicative of the pub’s importance to the local visitor
economy as well as being an important local community facility.

Page 57

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
Whilst there is some conflict with relevant development plan policies and national
planning policy, the less than substantial harm to the historic environment is
outweighed by the public benefits arising from the retention of the marquee for a
temporary period of three years. Subject to the recommended hours of use condition
officers also consider that the proposal would not cause material harm to the amenity of
local residents.

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions: 1: Planning permission for a temporary period of three years from the date of
permission.
2: The landscaping scheme as shown on the approved plan Tree Planting Plan
shall be implemented within the first planting season following the date of this
planning permission.
3: The hours of use shall be restricted until 10pm.

Author: Davina Sarac
Email: Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel: 01235 422600

Page 58

Appendix A

P21/S5332/FUL
Agenda Item 10

Page 59

4

Bluebell
Cottage
1

Larches
5
1
Orchard
Green

Nottw
ood L

ane

Croft
The Cherry
Tree Inn

Shaw
Cottage

4

Stmp

Hope
House

Cherry Tree Close

1

Farmers
Cottage

Bluebell
Cottage

Stoke Row
Chapel

Stoke Row Road

1

GP

Larches

14

5
Alma Green

1
2

1
Orchard
Green

Nottw

ood L

ane

Croft

7
1

The Cherry
Tree Inn

Shaw
Cottage

The Chapel
House

Thornfield
Touchdown
Beechcroft

Red Cow
House

Stmp

Cherry Tree Close

Hope
House

1

Farmers
Cottage

Location Plan

2

1:1250

Stoke Row
Chapel
Legend:
Site outlined in red

Stoke Row Road

Land in same ownership in blue

GP
14

Alma Green

1
2
7

1

The Chapel
House

Appendix B

Thornfield
Touchdown
Block Plan

1

1:500

1:1250
0 5 10

20

50

100m

REV.

ISSUED

DESCRIPTION

DRAWN

CHECKED

PROJECT

DESCRIPTION

DATE

SCALE AT A1

JOB NO

-

-

-

-

-

The Cherry Tree Inn
Stoke Row, RG9 5QA

Location Plan and Block Plan

Dec 2021

1:500, 1:1250

21.945

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1:500

Page 60

0

5

15

25

50m

SPRATLEY & PARTNERS
7 CENTENARY BUSINESS PARK, STATION ROAD, HENLEY-ON-THAMES, OXFORDSHIRE RG9 1DS . 01491 411277
ISSUED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE INDICATED. THIS DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL CONSULTANTS
INFORMATION. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE. DO NOT SCALE. THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT.

STATUS

DRAWING NO

Planning

PL.01

CLIENT

DRAWN

CHECKED

REV

Mr. D Redfern

GA

ST

-

Shed

Shed

Shed

1
Croft

Fridge
Freezer
Shed

Shed

Shed

Lodges

The Cherry
Tree Inn

Shaw
Cottage

1

300

3

327

Canopy
Canopy
8

912
3

8
29

121

16

22

122

Marquee

Cherry Tre

Car Park

e Close
Existing Site Plan

1

1:100

1:100
0

1

2

3

4

5

Page 61

REV.

ISSUED

DESCRIPTION

DRAWN

CHECKED

PROJECT

DESCRIPTION

DATE

SCALE AT A1

JOB NO

-

-

-

-

-

The Cherry Tree Inn
Stoke Row, RG9 5QA

Existing Site Plan

Dec 2021

1:100

21.945

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10m

SPRATLEY & PARTNERS
7 CENTENARY BUSINESS PARK, STATION ROAD, HENLEY-ON-THAMES, OXFORDSHIRE RG9 1DS . 01491 411277
ISSUED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE INDICATED. THIS DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL CONSULTANTS
INFORMATION. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE. DO NOT SCALE. THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT.

STATUS

DRAWING NO

Planning

PL.02

CLIENT

DRAWN

CHECKED

REV

Mr. D Redfern

GA

ST

-

Existing Pub South Elevation

1

1:100

Existing Pub North Elevation

3

1:100

+169.88 +169.92
+169.68

+169.66

Existing Pub East Elevation

2

1:100

Existing Pub West Elevation

4

Existing Marquee West Elevation

5

1:100

Existing Marquee East Elevation

7

1:100

1:100

Existing Marquee South Elevation

6

1:100

Existing Marquee North Elevation

8

1:100

+170.00

+169.72

+169.59

+169.54

+169.65
+169.31

+169.26
+169.11

+169.09

+168.96

+168.86 +168.80

+168.72

+168.73

+168.69

+168.73

+168.77

+168.80

+168.80

South Elevation - View from Stoke Row Road

9

1:100

3

Shed

Shed

Shed

1

10

Fridge
Freezer
Shed

Shed

Shed

4
Lodges

The Cherry
Tree Inn

2

8
1

Canopy
Canopy

7
Marquee

Car Park

5

6

9

9

10

Sp

+169.31

+169.23
+168.99
+168.73

+168.69

2

1:500

1:100

1:100
1

+169.19
+168.94

+168.71

East Elevation - View from Cherry Tree Close

10

0

+168.69

Key Plan

+169.53

+169.39
+169.27

+169.23

3

4

5

Page 62

REV.

ISSUED

DESCRIPTION

DRAWN

CHECKED

PROJECT

DESCRIPTION

DATE

SCALE AT A1

JOB NO

-

-

-

-

-

The Cherry Tree Inn
Stoke Row, RG9 5QA

Existing Elevations

Dec 2021

1:100

21.945

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10m

SPRATLEY & PARTNERS
7 CENTENARY BUSINESS PARK, STATION ROAD, HENLEY-ON-THAMES, OXFORDSHIRE RG9 1DS . 01491 411277
ISSUED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE INDICATED. THIS DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL CONSULTANTS
INFORMATION. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE. DO NOT SCALE. THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT.

STATUS

DRAWING NO

Planning

PL.03

CLIENT

DRAWN

CHECKED

REV

Mr. D Redfern

GA

ST

-

Shed

Shed

Shed

The Cherry
Tree Inn

Existing South Elevation

1

Existing East Elevation

2

1:100

1:100

Canopy
Canopy

Existing Plan
1:100

Shed

Shed

Shed

The Cherry
Tree Inn
Proposed South Elevation

3

Proposed East Elevation

4

1:100

1:100

Pizza
Oven

Canopy
Canopy

Proposed Plan
1:100

1:100
0

1

2

3

4

5

Page 63

REV.

ISSUED

DESCRIPTION

DRAWN

CHECKED

PROJECT

DESCRIPTION

DATE

SCALE AT A1

JOB NO

-

-

-

-

-

The Cherry Tree Inn
Stoke Row, RG9 5QA

Proposed Pizza Oven
Plans & Elevations

Dec 2021

1:100

21.945

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10m

SPRATLEY & PARTNERS
7 CENTENARY BUSINESS PARK, STATION ROAD, HENLEY-ON-THAMES, OXFORDSHIRE RG9 1DS . 01491 411277
ISSUED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE INDICATED. THIS DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL CONSULTANTS
INFORMATION. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE. DO NOT SCALE. THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT.

STATUS

DRAWING NO

Planning

PL.04

CLIENT

DRAWN

CHECKED

REV

Mr. D Redfern

GA

ST

-

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

OFFICER

1.0
1.1

P21/S4038/HH
HOUSEHOLDER
28.9.2021
WHEATLEY
Alexandrine Kantor
Kate Carruthers
26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, OX33 1SX
Rear and side extension. (As clarified by corrected
proposed rear elevation received 19 October 2021
and by drawings received 22 November 2021,
demonstrating an obscured glazed side facing
window).
Roseanne Lillywhite

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
This application has been referred to the Planning Committee at the request of the
Ward Member, Councillor Alexandrine Kantor. The planning reasons for the call-in are
as follows;
- the steepness of the hillside and the height of the adjacent wall make the extension
extremely overbearing and will have an impact of the day to day living and enjoyment of the
neighbours

1.2

This report sets out the officer’s recommendation that planning permission should be
granted, having regard to the material planning considerations and the development
plan.

1.3

Number 26 is a two-storey detached property fronting onto Ladder Hill which rises
steeply from north to south; properties step up in line with the slope. To the rear of
the property is a lean-to timber conservatory and to the north - east of the property
there is a garage and storage shed, these being at a lower level than the main parts of
the building. The attached garage is covered with a flat, felt roof and the store is a
detached timber shed immediately to the rear of the garage.
The dwelling of 26 Ladder Hill is not within the Oxford Green Belt, but half of the rear
garden is in the Oxford Green Belt.
A plan identifying the site is attached at Appendix 1 to this report.

1.4

Planning permission is sought for the following;
-

single storey lean-to side extension (replacing the storage shed)
single storey flat-roof rear extension (replacing the conservatory)
installation of a full-length side facing window to the existing elevation.

Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached as Appendix
2 to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the council’s
website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number.
1.5

Drawings submitted demonstrating the permitted development fall-back position are
provided in Appendix 3 to this report.

Page 65

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Wheatley Parish Council –
-

Window on side facing 24 Ladder Hill’s dining room and bedroom window is
overlooking and so needs to be obscured glass or reduced in height.
Rear extension is overbearing and causes loss of light may be a reduced height
in walls or a redesigned roof would help.

Neighbour at number 24 Ladder Hill –
-

concerns regarding privacy and light to side facing door (front door)
lack of detail on plans demonstrating their side facing windows and door
object to the proposed side window facing towards their property and notkeeping with the style of the properties
height and position of extensions

3.0
3.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
No relevant planning history

4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Not applicable

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
Development Plan Policies
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
DES1 - Delivering High Quality Development
DES2 - Enhancing Local Character
DES6 - Residential Amenity
DES8 - Promoting Sustainable Design
H20 - Extensions to Dwellings

5.2

Neighbourhood Plan
Relevant policies taken from the Wheatley Neighbourhood Plan:
POLICY H1: Design and character principles
POLICY H2: Landscape character

5.3

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.4

National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5

Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

Page 66

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

6.0

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.
Development which is not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan should
be refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.1

6.2

The main considerations in the determination of this application are;
-

Design and Scale and the impact of the proposal on the character of the
existing property and compliance with relevant Neighbourhood Plan
Policy

-

Impact of the proposal on the amenities of neighbouring occupants

-

Sustainable construction

Design and Scale and the impact of the proposal on the character of the existing
property and compliance with relevant Neighbourhood Plan Policy
The relevant development plan policies in this case are South Oxfordshire Local Plan
(SOLP) Policies DES1, DES2, DES8 and H20, Wheatley Neighbourhood Plan.
Polices H1 and H2 and the advice in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG).

6.3

Policy H20 sets out criteria for extensions and also relates to outbuildings within the
curtilage of a residential property. Criterion (i) is not relevant in this case, because the
dwelling is not located within The Oxford Green Belt. Criterion (ii) relates to parking
which is not so relevant in this case with the proposal relating to single storey
extensions with no increase in bedroom provision proposed. Existing parking to the
front of the property and the current garage will be retained.

6.4

Criterion (iii) relates to amenity space for the occupants of the extended property and
in this case, I am of the opinion there is adequate amenity space retained with the
generously sized rear garden (over 340sqm of garden area retained – 100sqm
required by standard). The proposed extensions are compliant with all 3 criteria of
SOLP policy H20 and are acceptable in principle in my view.

6.5

Relevant design policies taken from the SOLP are DES1, which relates to delivering
high quality development and DES2 which relates to enhancing local character. In my
opinion the proposed extensions are acceptable forms of development and extension
to the existing property. The proposed rear extension will be constructed in brick to
match the existing property with a flat green roof including a roof light. The side leanto extension will be clad in timber with zinc cladding. Both extensions will not be
visible from public vantage points due to their siting within the plot and the fact that
they are both single-storey. In addition, it is important to note that similar extensions
could be constructed under permitted development rights in matching brick or
outbuildings constructed in other materials such as cladding or brick. As such, I
consider the proposals are compliant with design policies DES1 and DES2 of the
South Oxfordshire Local Plan.

Page 67

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

6.6

I consider the proposed single storey extensions are also compliant with the following
policy objectives 05 (Protecting the landscape) and Objective 07 (Building design)
from the Wheatley Neighbourhood Plan.

6.7

Impact of the proposal on the amenities of neighbouring occupants
SOLP policy DES6 requires that ‘Development proposals should demonstrate that
they will not result in significant adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring uses,
when considering both individual and cumulative impacts, in relation to the following
factors:
i) loss of privacy, daylight or sunlight
ii) dominance or visual intrusion’

6.8

Concerns have been raised from the occupants of number 24 Ladder Hill and the
Wheatley Parish Council with regard to the impact of the proposals on the amenities of
the occupants of number 24 Ladder Hill which is set lower due to the gradient on
Ladder Hill. There are number of doors and windows on the side elevation facing 26
where the impact will be felt.

6.9

Side elevation to 24

6.10

24 Ladder Hill, the lower neighbour projects further out at the rear than 26 and the
proposed rear and side extensions do not project out any further than 24. The main
concern is the impact on light reaching existing windows on the south elevation and to
overlooking from the new window proposed in the north elevation of 26.

6.11

In relation to the new window in the north elevation, a condition has been
recommended to ensure that the proposed side facing window (looking towards 24)
within the existing building is obscured glazed and non-opening to ensure that there is
no overlooking and in my view, this will satisfactorily address the concern about
overlooking.

6.12

In relation to the impact on light to existing windows at 24, officers have considered
the permitted development fall-back position for extensions to 26 Ladder Hill. In any
consideration of impact, regard must be paid to what could be added as an extension
without needing to make an application for planning permission.

6.13

The agent has provided plans which demonstrate the permitted development fall-back
position for both a rear extension and side extension to the existing property. The

Ground floor plan

Page 68

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

plans below show what could be added shaded in red against what is proposed in this
application.

6.14

The permitted development fall-back plans demonstrate what could be constructed
under permitted development. As the property is detached an extension with a depth
of 4 metres and overall height of 4 metres could be constructed without formal
consent, a side extension attached to the existing property with an eaves hight of 3
metres up to the boundary could also be constructed. Furthermore, outbuildings could
be sited within the rear garden or to the side of the property which would have similar
impact as the side extension. The change in levels of the properties is not taken into
consideration under permitted development, with the measurement of height taken
from the highest point of land. The height of permitted development extensions in
particular show that the impact of what is proposed here would not be significantly
different to the fall back position.

6.15

There is specific guidance within the South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) to
measure potential neighbour impact from rear extensions using the 45 degree rule.
This is a 45 degree line taken from the mid section of a neighbours window on the rear
elevation and if a proposed extension breaches this line then there is the potential for
loss of light and over dominance.

Page 69

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

6.16

However, in this case the proposed rear extension clearly does not breach this 45degree rule, with the extension not extending beyond the rear wall of the neighbour at
number 24 Ladder Hill. The extent of the proposed extensions at number 26 are
demonstrated in the block plan (extract copied on the next page)

Number
24

Number
26

6.17

Given the fall-back position for extensions of a similar size, it is my view that the
proposals would not be unneighbourly, in conjunction with the attached obscured
glazing condition and they comply with specific design guidance within the SODG for
rear extensions and Policy DES6 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan.

6.18

Sustainable Construction
Policy DES8 of SOLP aims to promote sustainable design. In this case the
opportunities to minimise carbon and energy impacts are limited because the
extensions are to fixed points on an existing residential property. However, the
proposed extensions are subject to Part L of the Building Regulations which sets
standards for energy performance.

6.19

CIL
The council’s CIL charging schedule applies to relevant proposals from 1 April 2016.
CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver
infrastructure and to support the development of their area and is primarily calculated
on the increase in footprint created as a result of the development.
In this case CIL would not liable as any increase of floor space to the property is under
100 square metres.

7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
Your officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the proposal
seeks to extend an existing residential property with rear and side single storey
extensions that are considered in-keeping with the existing property and would not
harm the wider character of the street scene.
Neighbour and Parish Council comments have been considered with the request for an
obscured glazed window to the north elevation, which would be conditioned to be
retained as such.

Page 70

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

In conjunction with the attached conditions the proposal accords with the Development
Plan.
8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
That Planning Permission should be granted subject to the following conditions;
1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2 : Approved plans
3 : Materials as on plan
4 : Obscure glazing

Author:

Roseanne Lillywhite

E-mail:

planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Contact No:

01235 422600

Page 71

This page is intentionally left blank

24/03/2022, 17:47

GIS Print

P21/S4038/HH
Agenda Item 11

Appendix 1

Page 73
savvvsparc03clo.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk/intranet/jointgis/1.74/asp/print.asp?class=A4Portrait&imageurl=http://savvvsparc03clo.capitacou…

1/1

N

LAD

LAD

DE

DE

RH
ILL

RH
ILL

26

26

N

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021
Ordnance Survey 0100031673

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021
Ordnance Survey 0100031673

Location plan - scale 1:1250 @ A3

Block plan - scale 1:500 @ A3

Appendix 2
P2

Planning Application Submission

28.09.21

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

REVISION

Page 74

PROJECT

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX
INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

CLIENT

Kate Carruthers

SCALE

1:1250/1:500@A3

DRAWING

DATE

AS EXISTING_Site Location & Block Plans

August 2021

DWG No.

108_SP_01
REVISION

P2

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

garage

garden shed

existing conservatory
to be replaced

front drive

dining

garden

living
terrace
conservatory
kitchen

hallway

P1

Page 75

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_EX_00

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS EXISTING_Ground Floor Plan

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

2125

4325

outline of existing
shed to be removed

workroom

sunken
terrace

garage

sunken
courtyard

front drive

200

study
living
dining

5225

timber framed
glazing to extension

terrace
kitchen
shower/ utility

new single storey
rear extension

hallway

bins & recycling

5000

P1

Page 76

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_PL_00

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS PROPOSED_Ground Floor Plan

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

4325

outline of existing
shed to be removed

2125

sunken
courtyard

garage

front drive

workroom

sunken
terrace

obscure glazing to
side window

200

study
living
dining

5225

timber framed
glazing to extension

terrace
kitchen
shower/ utility

new single storey
rear extension

hallway

bins & recycling

5000

Page 77

0

P2

Obscure glazing to side window added

22.11.21

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_PL_00

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS PROPOSED_Ground Floor Plan

August 2021

P2

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

bedroom

bedroom

bedroom

bathroom

P1

Page 78

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_EX_01

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS EXISTING_First Floor Plan

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

existing garage roof
lean to roof finished in
metal seamed roof panels

bedroom
Flat roof to extension with
sedum /green roof finish
and parapet brick wall

bedroom

skylight

bedroom

bathroom

P1

Page 79

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_PL_01

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS PROPOSED_First Floor Plan

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

P1

Page 80

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_EX_03

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS EXISTING_SE Front Elevation

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

P1

Page 81

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_PL_03

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS PROPOSED_SE Front Elevation

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

P1

Page 82

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_EX_05

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS EXISTING_NE Side Elevation

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

existing rear conservatory
to be demolished

existing timber shed
to be demolished

existing height of boundary fence

existing garage

5000
new window to match
existing windows

lean-to side extension finished in natural
timber cladding with standing seam zinc roof

single storey rear extension
finished in brick

P1

Page 83

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_PL_05

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS PROPOSED_NE Side Elevation

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

existing rear conservatory
to be demolished

existing timber shed
to be demolished

existing height of boundary fence

existing garage

5000
new window to match
existing windows with
obscure glazing

Page 84

0

lean-to side extension finished in natural
timber cladding with standing seam zinc roof

single storey rear extension
finished in brick

P2

Obscure glazing to side window added

22.11.21

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_PL_05

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS PROPOSED_NE Side Elevation

August 2021

P2

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

precedent image for workroom

workroom with
standing seam
zinc pitched roof

2300
1800

3275

sunken terrace

timber framed
glazing to extension

new single storey
rear extension

P2
P1

Page 85

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_PL_04

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS PROPOSED_NW Rear Elevation

August 2021

P2

Ammended rear elevation in line with submitted ground floor plan

Planning Application Submission

19.10.21
10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

P1

Page 86

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_EX_04

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS EXISTING_NW Rear Elevation

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

P1

Page 87

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_EX_02

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS EXISTING_Roof Plan

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

P1

Page 88

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_PL_02

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS PROPOSED_Roof Plan

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

A

A

SECTION AA

P1

Page 89

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_EX_07

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS EXISTING_Section AA

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

A

A

fixed skylight

3275

new single storey rear
extension finished in brick

timber framed window in natural
finish in new rear extension

SECTION AA

P1

Page 90

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_PL_07

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS PROPOSED_Section AA

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

P1

Page 91

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_EX_06

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS EXISTING_SW Side Elevation

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

existing rear conservatory
to be demolished

bins & recycling

5000
new single storey rear
extension finished in brick

timber framed window in natural
finish in new rear extension

new window in ground floor utility/wc
room to match existing windows

P1

Page 92

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_PL_06

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS PROPOSED_SW Side Elevation

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

outline of existing
shed to be removed

workroom

3000

garage

sunken
courtyard

front drive

sunken
terrace

study
living
timber framed
glazing to extension

dining

terrace
kitchen
shower/ utility

new single storey
rear extension

hallway

bins & recycling

4000

4000

NEIGHBOUR CONSULTATION
SHOWN IN BROWN
Page 93

0

PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT
SHOWN IN RED

PROJECT

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

Appendix 3

P1

REVISION

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_PL_00

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS PROPOSED_Ground Floor Plan

August 2021

P1

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT
SHOWN IN RED

NEIGHBOUR CONSULTATION
SHOWN IN BROWN

4000

4000

existing rear conservatory
to be demolished

existing timber shed
to be demolished

4000
existing height of boundary fence

existing garage

new window to match
existing windows

lean-to side extension finished in natural
timber cladding with standing seam zinc roof

single storey rear extension
finished in brick

P1

Page 94

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_PL_05

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS PROPOSED_NE Side Elevation

August 2021

P1

Planning Application Submission

10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

precedent image for workroom

workroom with
standing seam
zinc pitched roof

3000

4000

sunken terrace

timber framed
glazing to extension

new single storey
rear extension

PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT
SHOWN IN RED

P2
P1

Page 95

0

REVISION

1

2

3

4

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DRAWING IS THE SOLE COPYRIGHT OF STUDIO GRAY AND IS NOT TO BE
REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR PERMISSION. DO NOT SCALE. ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CONFIRMED ON SITE

5m

PROJECT

CLIENT

SCALE

DWG No.

26 Ladder Hill, Wheatley, Oxford OX33 7SX

Kate Carruthers

1:50 @A3

108_PL_04

DRAWING

DATE

REVISION

AS PROPOSED_NW Rear Elevation

August 2021

P2

Ammended rear elevation in line with submitted ground floor plan

Planning Application Submission

19.10.21
10.09.21

DATE

studiogray
21 Hawley Square, Margate, Kent CT9 1PQ
studiogray.co.uk / 07970 809 464 / 07799 263 959

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

OFFICER

P21/S3199/FUL
FULL APPLICATION
3.11.2021
HOLTON
Tim Bearder
Mr Stephen Longthorp
St. Andrew's Field, Holton Road, Holton, OX33 1PZ
To widen an entrance. Removal of a section of wall.
Installation of new farm gates (as amplified by
corrected block plans drwg no s BLO-001A and
BLO-002A received on 28/02/22).
Will Darlison

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
The application is referred to planning committee because the Officer’s
recommendation for approval conflicts with the views of Holton Parish Council, who
object to the proposed development.

1.2

St Andrew’s Field forms a relatively triangular shaped piece of land. It is located to the
north of Wheatley Park School and within the parish of Holton. The development
proposed is in the eastern part of the field, at the existing vehicular access point.

1.3

The application site is washed over by the Oxford Green Belt. A plan identifying the
site is attached at Appendix 1 to this report.

1.4

The application seeks planning permission to widen the existing vehicular access to
the site. This would require the demolition of a section of boundary wall. A new set of
farm gates are then to be installed to serve the access and a new short section of wall
to be constructed.

1.5

Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix
2 to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the Council’s
website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number.

1.6

There is an ongoing enforcement investigation at the site centred around the following
alleged matters: ‘without planning permission the material change of use of land from
agriculture to a mixed use of agriculture and leisure/non-agricultural uses and various
operational developments including landscaping works and erection of a timber
building.’. However, there are no provisions within the planning system to refuse to
consider an application or to delay the determination of a valid application on the
grounds that there are outstanding enforcement matters. The planning system allows
for retrospective planning applications to be made under S.73A of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), thus undertaking development without the
relevant planning permission of itself is not a breach of planning control. The NPPF
also advises that formal enforcement action, should not be taken simply to regularise
unauthorised development.

1.7

Corrected block plans have been submitted to address a scaling issue with the
originally submitted information.

Page 97

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Holton Parish Council – Objection


The existing access has always been adequate for the agricultural and ancillary
usage to date and the removal of a section of wall would destroy the unique
character of the village landscape

Countryside Officer – No objection
Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – No objection subject to
condition
Neighbour representations - Neighbour objections x (3)








The land is officially classified as agricultural despite evidence that other uses
are, or have been carried out there. Section 14 of the application form is
therefore incorrect
The road to the north of the field has a very high amenity value for walkers and
cyclists. There is no pavement on either side of the road and safety for these
road users must be the first priority
Any future development at the site will increase the vehicle movements. This
would be detrimental to the amenity and safety of the road
The information supplied by the applicant is not sufficient to accurately illustrate
the visibility splays
The existing agricultural gateway does not require any widening for the type of
traffic that uses it
The application is attempting to get around the objection from Highways in the
last application to erect a house on the site
The widening would need to demolish part of old Holton Park Wall and would
need some re-siting of electricity poles that feed the village

3.0
3.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
SE20/188 - Without planning permission the material change of use of land from
agriculture to a mixed use of agriculture and leisure/non-agricultural uses and various
operational developments including landscaping works and erection of a timber
building.

4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
N/A

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.2

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
DES1 - Delivering High Quality Development
DES2 - Enhancing Local Character
DES6 - Residential Amenity
DES7 - Efficient Use of Resources
ENV1 - Landscape and Countryside
ENV3 - Biodiversity
STRAT1 - The Overall Strategy
STRAT6 - Green Belt
TRANS5 - Consideration of Development Proposals

Page 98

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

5.3
5.4

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG)

5.5
5.6

Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

5.7

Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The relevant planning considerations are the following:







Principle of development and impact on the openness of the Oxford Green
Belt.
Impact on highway safety.
Impact on the character and appearance of the site and wider area.
Impact on protected species.
Carbon reduction.
Community Infrastructure Levy.

6.2

Principle of development and impact on the openness of the Oxford Green Belt.
The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land
permanently open. This is set out in Section 13 of the advice from Central Government
in the National Planning Policy Framework and supported in Policy STRAT6 of the
SOLP.

6.3

The five purposes of the green belt are;
-

to check the unrestricted urban sprawl of large built up areas;
to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and
other urban land.

6.4

In addition, there is a general presumption against inappropriate development.
Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt. ‘Very special
circumstances’ to justify inappropriate development will not exist unless the harm by
reason of inappropriateness and any other harm is clearly outweighed by other
circumstances.

6.5

The NPPF advises at paragraph 150 that a local planning authority should regard
certain forms of development as acceptable development in the Green Belt. These are:





mineral extraction;
engineering operations;
local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a Green
Belt location;
the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent and
substantial construction;

Page 99

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022




material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor sport or
recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds); and
development, including buildings, brought forward under a Community Right to
Build Order or Neighbourhood Development Order.

6.6

Works to create or alter an access are regarded as an engineering operation, and are
included in the list above. It would therefore be acceptable development in the Green
Belt taking place within the built-up limits of Holton and along part of what is an
established boundary wall. The widened access would not materially alter the route of
the wall as whole and would have a neutral impact on the openness of the area.

6.7

Objections have been received from the Parish Council as well as local residents that
the proposed development should be refused on the basis that there is no justification
for the widening of the access and that the existing arrangement has been adequate up
until now. This is not, in my opinion, a legitimate reason to resist the proposed
development in this instance. If a modest proposal, such as this, can demonstrate
compliance with the Development Plan then there are no grounds to require a
justification or to refuse development.

6.8

Impact on highway safety. With respect to highway safety matters the advice from
Central Government set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as
follows: Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where
the residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe. The term severe is
locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely to result in loss of life,
or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact.

6.9

Policy TRANS5 seeks to ensure that development does not harm highway safety and
provides for sufficient parking and turning areas.

6.10 The Highways Liaison Officer has reviewed the proposal and provided comments. They
have no objection to the proposed widening of the access. They do however clarify that
this is on the basis of the land remaining in its current use and that if there were to be
subsequent development proposed on the site the substandard nature of the visibility
splays, tracking etc would need to be addressed and brought up to standard.
6.11 The last point raised by the Highways Liaison Officer is particularly relevant to the
objections received from local residents. The comments from local residents have
suggested that this application is seeking to address the substandard nature of the
existing access prior to making an application for further development on the site. It is
not appropriate to speculate on the motives of applicants on planning applications given
the role of this report is to assess the proposed development on its own merits judged
against development plan policies. However, what is important is that the Highways
Liaison Officer clearly asserts that the acceptability of the current proposal is on the
basis of the existing use and any further development at the site would require the
access to be brought up to standard.
6.12 Impact on the character and appearance of the site and wider area. DES1 of the
SOLP states that all new development must be of a high-quality design with DES2
ensuring that it must respond to and enhance local character.
6.13 The existing access arrangement has an entirely functional appearance as does the
gate that serves it, which is in keeping with the agricultural nature of the land it serves.
This can be seen in the two photographs taken of the access from the road, which have
been included below. The access does not, in my opinion, contain any visually
attractive elements that positively contribute to the amenity of the street scene.

Page 100

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

6.14

6.15 The proposed development would not materially alter the contribution that the entrance
makes to the area, it would remain legible as a functional access point with a neutral
impact on the wider area. The submitted drawings whilst rudimentary do show that the
proposed replacement gates would be of a five bar variety commonly seen to access
agricultural fieds. The loss of the section of wall is not considered to amount to material
harm given the modest section that would be demolished. In addition, the wall is not
listed nor located within a conservation area. Therefore, I am satisfied that the
proposed development would be acceptable in design terms and would not represent
harm to the character or apperance of the street scene.
6.16 Impact on protected species. Policies ENV2 and ENV3 of the SOLP relates to
biodiversity and states that development that will conserve, restore and enhance
biodiversity in the district will be supported. All development should provide a net gain
in biodiversity where possible. As a minimum, there should be no net loss of
biodiversity.
6.17 The application site is within the village of Holton, which is known to contain populations
of great crested newts (GCN) with ponds around the settlement forming a network
supporting a metapopulation. The Countryside Officer was consulted to ensure that the
proposed development would not negatively impact on GCN habitats. They reviewed
the proposals and stated in their comments that the widening of the access would result
in a very small working area and that it would be suitably far away from nearby ponds to
mean that the risks of significant impacts on GCNs would be acceptably low. They
confirmed that this approach is in accordance with Natural England’s rapid risk
assessment tool. They raised no objection to the development.
6.18 Carbon reduction. Policy DES10 of SOLP requires proposals for non-residential
development to meet the BREEAM excellent standard.
6.19 Whilst the proposed development is non-residential in nature it does not involve the
construction of a building with enclosed floor space. It is therefore not possible for it to
achieve the BREEAM excellent standard and this policy cannot reasonably be applied
to the development.
6.20 Community Infrastructure Levy. In this case CIL is not liable for the proposal, this is
on the basis that it does not include development set out in the charging schedule.
7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
Officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the development
would not materially harm the amenities of neighbouring properties. It would be of a
design that would be in keeping with the rural character and appearance of the existing
site and it would not be harmful to the street scene. In conjunction with the attached
conditions, it will not harm the openness of the Green Belt, surface water drainage or
highway safety and will accord with development plan policies.
Page 101

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 6 April 2022

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
To grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions;
1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2 : Approved plans
3 : Existing vehicular access

Author:
Will Darlison
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:
planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 102

Appendix
P21/S3199/FUL
Agenda
Item 12 1

The site

Page 103

I

i

VJ

/ i /'

,

t ,

I

,

j

/!~

,/ \

. ,,'/l

;'
-,./

,

I

--'-f

;!

/

/

r

"i'
I

I

h

~

I

!

lAin

,.,"

/

\

,

i

,I
r-

/'

f)/

I

)-,

(

i

f /j
I;

I

7L},Qrn

/ (,.1
!

1;--

i

\

/

I"

I

$'" -.- ..•..:'J::'~~i

i

,

l!

if.'
.1

L

LB

--.

I
./

!

,/
J

!

<

High
f:li.1nk
I
f

\ .....
J

--J

,.

i'

j

,

RcfsGwood
-- .. 1.

/

/)

,j ;'
-";

r

I

;

i

j

I

r

r

-:

I

r-

t

;'

i.

,

,.I

.\

<.

/
/7
,. ! ,//

i
/

1
.}

'r

VVhesUey Park

i

;'

/

.,

,"
j

/
I

,.

-\

i

School
(secondary)

/

I

/

I

"

\
i
I,
,

'v

/

: !

, ,/

Appendix 2

Barns
Close

i

'

iN
!

//

/Ee/i, i
>'
i

\,
,

Page 104

\

;

.... ./ //

Stable

.

'

/!

I
/

,

61:0111'1:128.01

l~.:'

~,~, I'

,',

-,

Site Plan

, :12'50

ftBuyAPlan

lM§ Fa§tE!§tanti Easiest PlanNiNg sae

St Andrew s Field. Road Passing Wheatley Park School. Holton. Oxfordshire OX33 1PZ

/

f
i

./
j
I
i

!
f
i

!
j
!
j

J

!
§!'!§~7J

Block Plan shows area bounded by: 459857.95. 206632.48 459893.95. 206668.48
way. The representation
of features as lines is no evidence of a property boundary.

(at a scale of 1:200). OSGridRef:

SP5987

665.

The representation

of a road. track or path is no evidence

of a right of

Produced on 23rd Sep 2021 from the Ordnance Survey National Geographic Database and incorporating surveyed revision available at this date. Reproduction in whole or part is prohibited without the
prior permission of Ordnance Survey. © Crown copyright 2021. Supplied by www.buyaplan.co.uk
a licensed Ordnance Survey partner (100053143).
Unique plan reference: #00670371-C4CC86
Ordnance Survey and the OS Symbol are registered
are Copyright © Pass Inc Lld 2021

trademarks

of Ordnance

Survey. the national

mapping

agency of Great Britain.

Buy A Plan logo. pdf design and the www.buyaplan.co.uk

webslte

Page 105

nBuyA Plan

UW9Fastest aRd Ea§ie§t Pleltlniflg ~ite

St Andrew s Field. Road Passing Wheatley Park School. Holton. Oxfordshire OX33 1PZ

j
f

!

/
i

-~~~">~~""'->.~-,--c,="

f\~u
~alL

~

~LhOA-

6 W\.4.L b
~

4~i

t=..:

I/\LkJ

'-~~

"

~/'~-

__
.~////// elop~~~~~~-\

~~.::--~--

==::..:----:--:-::..:"

/

/:

'

f

!
!

/
I
j

j

j

I

/

.....,---

!

!

gm

§J'lli~!!7~

Block Plan shows area bounded by: 459857.95, 206632.48459893.95,
206668.48
way. The representation
of features as lines is no evidence of a property boundary.

(at a scale of 1:200), OSGridRet

SP5987

665.

The representation

of a road, track or path is no evidence

of a right of

Produced on 23rd Sep 2021 from the Ordnance Survey National Geographic Database and incorporating
surveyed revision available at this date. Reproduction in whole or part is prohibited without the
prior permission of Ordnance Survey. © Cr~
copyright 2021. Supplied by www.buyaplan.co.uk
a licensed Ordnance Survey partner (100053143).
Unique plan reference: #00670371-C4CC86
Ordnance Survey and the OS Symbol are registered
are Copyright © Pass Inc Lld 2021

trademarks

of Ordnance

Survey, the national

mapping

agency of Great Britain.

Buy A Plan logo, pdf design and the www.buyaplan.co.uk

website

Page 106

Page 107

T

B

'\

-

\

f
~

c

v:

-

l'''
X

i,

Page 108

I

I;
I

I

